

NATIONAL *fish, wildlife* & *plants* CLIMATE ADAPTATION STRATEGY





ADVANCING THE NATIONAL FISH, WILDLIFE, AND PLANTS CLIMATE ADAPTATION STRATEGY INTO A NEW DECADE

Advancing the National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy into a New Decade

Contributors

Joe Burns, USFS/Office of Sustainability and Climate Whisper Camel-Means, Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes Nikki Cooley, Institute for Tribal Environmental Professionals Karen Cozzetto, Institute for Tribal Environmental Professionals Rob Croll, Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission Aimee Delach, Defenders of Wildlife Maggie Ernest Johnson, Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies Roger Griffis, NOAA/National Marine Fisheries Service Mike Langston, U.S. Geological Survey/South Central Climate Adaptation Science Center Dara Marks-Marino, Institute for Tribal Environmental Professionals Tracy Melvin, Michigan State University Robert Newman, University of North Dakota Rachael Novak, Bureau of Indian Affairs/Tribal Resilience Program Madeleine Rubenstein, U.S. Geological Survey/National Climate Adaptation Science Center Ted Weber, Defenders of Wildlife

This report was reviewed by members of the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies' Climate Adaptation Committee and the National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Network.



Suggested Citation

National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Network. 2021. Advancing the national fish, wildlife, and plants climate adaptation strategy into a new decade. Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Washington, DC.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government

Executive Summary

In 2009, at the behest of Congress, the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) and the US Department of the Interior (DOI) were asked to develop a national, government-wide climate adaptation strategy for fish, wildlife, plants, and ecosystems. In doing so, the U.S. Federal Government recognized the immensity of climate change impacts on the Nation's vital natural resources, as well as the critical need for partnership among federal, state, and tribal fish and wildlife agencies. More than 90 diverse technical, scientific, and management experts from across the country participated in the development and, in 2012, the National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy (Strategy) was published. Designed to "inspire and enable natural resource managers, legislators, and other decision makers to take effective steps towards climate change adaptation over the next five to ten years," the time has come for the natural resource community to consider the impact of the Strategy, while identifying the necessary evolution of it, to continue to effectively safeguard the Nation's natural resources in a changing climate.

This report is not meant to replace the Strategy, nor be an addendum to it. Rather, the development of this report was intended to take a high-level review of what has changed in the field of climate change adaptation, how the Strategy has or has not been effectively implemented at federal, state, tribal, and nonprofit levels, and provide recommendations for its future update and implementation. This report is split into three parts. Part I briefly describes what has changed in our understanding of climate change and climate adaptation science, as well as how the emerging field of the adaptation practice has grown. Part II cross-walks the Strategy goals with a variety of conservation plans made at federal, state, tribal, and nonprofit levels to assess where and how the Strategy has been implemented or been an influence over the past decade. Finally, Part III summarizes the findings of this report by laying out recommendations. These recommendations include thirteen voluntary management actions designed to highlight and address the needs and challenges of the natural resource community in the new decade.

Of note, our most significant recommendation is for the addition of a new Strategy goal that focuses on the need and opportunities to better integrate people into climate adaptation efforts fish, wildlife, plants, and the ecosystems on which people depend. This recommendation is meant to address the current and historical underrepresentation of Black, Indigenous, and other communities of color in conservation plans and projects. The report concludes with four next steps we feel are necessary for the revision of the Strategy and to ensure it will continue to be promoted and implemented throughout all sectors and jurisdictions.

While much has changed in our understanding of climate adaptation over the past decade, it is clear that the Strategy has provided a roadmap for scientists and managers to address the impacts of a changing climate to the Nation's natural resources. To ensure that the Strategy remains a critical guiding document, the recommendations included in Part III outline what will be needed to meet this challenge. While this report represents the assessment of an informal network of practitioners, it is our hope that these recommendations from federal, state, tribal, and

nonprofit partners promote robust discussion and increased action to implement the Strategy. Coordinated action is critical to addressing climate change impacts on the Nation's valuable fish, wildlife, and plants and the many people, communities and economies that depend on them.

Table of Contents	
Executive Summary	3
Introduction	7
PART I	8
State of the Science	8
Greenhouse Gas-Induced Changes to the Climate and Ocean	8
Climate Change Impacts on Fish, Wildlife, and Plants	14
Non-Climate Stressors on Fish, Wildlife, and Plants, and Interactions with Climate Chang	ge 20
Impacts on Ecosystem Services	29
Including Indigenous Knowledges (IKs) in Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Planning and Actions	32
State of the Practice	44
Widely Adopted Guidance and Approaches	44
New and Emerging Frameworks and Guidance	46
Moving Forward	48
PART II	. 50
Example Federal Plans	. 53
NOAA Fisheries Climate Science Strategy	. 53
NPS Climate Change Action Plan 2012–2014	. 53
FWS Planning for Climate Change on the National Wildlife Refuge System	. 53
Example State Plans	. 54
Florida State Wildlife Action Plan	. 54
Massachusetts State Wildlife Action Plan	. 55
Wyoming State Wildlife Action Plan	. 56
Example Tribal Plans	. 56
Karuk Climate Adaptation Plan	. 56
Tribal Climate Adaptation Menu	. 57
Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment and Adaptation Plan: 1854 Ceded Territory Including the Bois Forte, Fond du Lac and Grand Portage Reservations	57
Example Nonprofit Plans	60
Conserving Nature in a Changing Climate: A Three Part Guide for Land Trusts in the Northeast	60

The Nature Conservancy's Resilient and Connected Landscapes for Terrestrial	
Conservation	60
WCS Climate Adaptation Fund 2020 Applicant Guidance Document	61
PART III	63
Management Recommendations	63
New Strategy Goal	64
Next Steps for the Strategy	65
Conclusions	66
References	67

Introduction

In 2009, at the behest of Congress, the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) and the US Department of the Interior (DOI) were asked to develop a national, government-wide climate adaptation strategy for fish, wildlife, plants, and ecosystems. In doing so, the Federal Government recognized the immensity of climate change impacts on the Nation's vital natural resources, as



Figure 1. Report cover of the National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy.

well as the critical need for partnership among federal, state, and tribal fish and wildlife agencies. More than 90 diverse technical, scientific, and management experts from across the country participated in the development and, in 2012, the National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy (Strategy) was published. Designed to "inspire and enable natural resource managers, legislators, and other decision makers to take effective steps towards climate change adaptation over the next five to ten years," the time has come for the natural resource community to consider the impact of the Strategy, while identifying the necessary evolution of it, to continue to effectively safeguard the Nation's natural resources in a changing climate.

This report is not meant to replace the Strategy, nor be an addendum to it. Rather, the development of this report was intended to take a high-level review of what has changed in the field of climate change adaptation, how the Strategy has or has not been effectively

implemented at federal, state, tribal, and nonprofit levels, stimulate discussion and provide recommendations for its future revision and implementation. As such, Part I briefly describes what has changed in our understanding of climate change and climate adaptation science, as well as how the emerging field of the adaptation practice has grown. Part II cross-walks the Strategy goals with a variety of climate adaptation plans made at federal, state, tribal, and nonprofit levels to assess where and how the Strategy has been implemented or been an influence over the past decade. Finally, Part III summarizes the findings of this report by laying out recommendations. These recommendations are meant to address how the Strategy can be adapted to remain a relevant and effective guiding document for natural resource professionals undertaking climate adaptation efforts in the new decade.

PART I

State of the Science

The Strategy included a chapter on the impacts of climate change and ocean acidification on fish, wildlife, plants, and ecosystems. As much of the science has advanced and consequently our understanding of these impacts on natural resources has evolved, Part I provides a brief update on the state of the science. We review greenhouse gas–induced changes to the climate and oceans, existing stressors and climate change impacts on fish, wildlife, and plants, and impacts to ecosystem services. In addition, we review information on integrating Indigenous Knowledges into a more complete understanding of climate change and climate adaptation science. Specific details for ecosystems, which were included in the Strategy, have not been included in this report because there are more recent assessments that provide this level of information, such as the Fourth National Climate Assessment (USGCRP 2018).

Part I also includes a section describing the state of the practice. Climate adaptation remains a growing field and thus we felt it was necessary to cover how practitioners have evolved their approaches to climate change impacts on natural resources. We will describe foundational frameworks that have provided guidance and remain relevant and useful today. In addition, we also touch on some of the emerging frameworks that have developed since the Strategy publication that represent an evolution in our understanding of how managers can best address climate change impacts.

Greenhouse Gas–Induced Changes to the Climate and Ocean

Contributing Authors: Ted Weber and Mike Langston

The purpose of this section is to describe the changes to the atmosphere and oceans that have resulted from increased atmospheric greenhouse gas concentrations. The 2012 Strategy based its impact descriptions on the 2009 edition of the National Climate Assessment (Karl et al. 2009), as well as hundreds of relevant scientific papers. Since its publication, two further editions in 2014 and 2018 of the National Climate Assessment have been released. This section primarily references the Fourth National Climate Assessment (USGCRP 2018), referred herein as "NCA4." Observations along multiple lines of evidence have strengthened the conclusion that Earth's climate is changing at a pace and in a pattern not explainable by natural influences (NCA4, vol.1, p.38). This includes higher atmospheric and ocean temperatures, changing precipitation patterns, higher sea levels, and changing ocean currents (NCA4, vol. 1, p.364).

Increases in atmospheric and ocean carbon dioxide

Both atmospheric and ocean CO_2 concentrations across the United States have continued to increase since the 2009 National Climate Assessment. At the time of the 2012 Strategy, the level

of CO_2 in the atmosphere was 390 parts per million (ppm) (Mauna Loa Observatory, 2010 mean; Pieter and Keeling 2020), more than 30 percent above its highest level over at least the last 800,000 years. Since 2010, CO_2 concentrations have increased to 411 ppm (Mauna Loa 2019 mean), an additional 5.4 percent increase over nine years. The results of these increases are higher air temperatures, due to the greenhouse effect, and more acidic waters, as the CO_2 forms carbonic acid when dissolved in water. The oceans absorb about one-quarter of the anthropogenically produced CO_2 . This results in more acidification, which is more pronounced in the higher latitudes due to the lower buffering capacity of these waters (NCA4, vol. 1, p. 364).

Greenhouse gas concentrations are projected to continue to increase. In the RCP4.5 scenario, which assumes stabilized emissions, CO_2 -equivalent levels (including emissions of non- CO_2 greenhouse gases, aerosols, and other substances that affect climate) will reach 580 ppm by 2100. Mean global temperature would increase by around 3.6°F (2°C) relative to the 1986–2005 average. In the RCP8.5 scenario, corresponding to continued fossil fuel use with modest improvements in energy technology, CO_2 -equivalent levels will reach more than 1200 ppm by 2100. Mean global temperature would increase 5.4-9.9°F (3.0–5.5°C) relative to the 1986–2005 average (NCA4, vol. 1, p. 136).

Changes in air and water temperatures

Air temperatures

Average annual surface air temperatures rose about $1.8^{\circ}F(1^{\circ}C)$ in the contiguous United States between 1900 and 2010 (data from NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information 2020b, Fig. 2). Between 2010 and 2019, the average temperature climbed another ~0.3°F (0.17°C). Nineteen of the 20 warmest years in the measurement record (which begins in 1880) occurred in the period from 2001 to 2019 (data from NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information 2020a). The number of record lows has generally been decreasing since the 1970s while the number of record highs has risen (NCA4, vol. 1, p. 192). Average minimum temperatures have increased slightly more than average maximum temperatures, decreasing the diurnal temperature range. In the continental United States, the West has had the highest increases in temperature and the Southeast the lowest (NCA4, Vol. 1, pp.186–187). Alaska's average temperatures have increased particularly fast, ~4°F (2.2°C) from 1925 to 2019, with a major uptick since 2010 (data from NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information 2020c, Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Average air temperatures have increased in Alaska (left) and the continental United States (right). (NOAA)

New paleo-temperature reconstructions indicate that the average temperature of the last few decades across temperate North America was the highest of any period in the past 1,500 years (NCA4, vol. 1, p.188). Depending on the region and scenario, temperatures are predicted to rise another 3.4–5.3°F (1.9–2.9°C) by mid-century (2036–2065) and 4.4–9.5°F (2.4–5.3°C) by late-century (2071–2100) (NCA4, Vol. I, p. 197, Fig. 3). In the contiguous United States, the Midwest is projected to have the highest increases and Southeast the lowest. Alaska's surface temperatures are projected to continue to increase faster than the global mean (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 305), which is particularly alarming considering the feedback potential of melting permafrost.

NCA Region	RCP4.5 Mid-Century (2036–2065)	RCP8.5 Mid-Century (2036–2065)	RCP4.5 Late-Century (2071–2100)	RCP8.5 Late-Century (2071–2100)
Northeast	3.98°F	5.09°F	5.27°F	9.11°F
Southeast	3.40°F	4.30°F	4.43°F	7.72°F
Midwest	4.21°F	5.29°F	5.57°F	9.49°F
Great Plains North	4.05°F	5.10°F	5.44°F	9.37°F
Great Plains South	3.62°F	4.61°F	4.78°F	8.44°F
Southwest	3.72°F	4.80°F	4.93°F	8.65°F
Northwest	3.66°F	4.67°F	4.99°F	8.51°F

Figure 3. Projected changes in annual average temperature (F) for each National Climate Assessment region in the contiguous United States. (NCA4, Vol. I, p. 197)

Ocean temperatures

The world's oceans have absorbed about 93 percent of the excess heat caused by greenhouse gas warming since the mid–20th century, making them warmer and altering global and regional climate feedbacks (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 364). Ocean heat content has increased at all depths since the 1960s. Globally, surface waters have warmed by on average about $0.0126^{\circ} \pm 0.0014^{\circ}F$ (0.007° ± 0.0008°C) per year from 1900 to 2016, accelerating to $0.0180^{\circ} \pm 0.0020^{\circ}F$ (0.0100° ±

0.0011°C) after 1950 (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 368). Along the Northeast Continental Shelf, ocean temperatures rose an average of 0.06° F (0.033° C) per year between 1982 and 2016, three times faster than the global average (NCA4). This regional warming is accelerating dramatically, with temperatures rising 0.25° F (0.14° C) per year between 2007 and 2016 (NCA4). Sea surface temperatures are projected to increase an additional 2.3–4.9°F (1.3–2.7°C) by 2100, depending on the emissions scenario (NCA4, Vol. I, p. 367).

River, stream, and lake temperatures

Since 1990, stream temperatures have risen at 65 percent of the gauges in the continental U.S. [considering only those gauges with sufficient data] (Climate Central 2019). Climate-related factors like decreased snowmelt, lower base flows, and warmer air temperatures can increase stream temperatures, although land use and hydrologic changes also have an effect. Warmer water decreases dissolved oxygen and stresses coldwater fish like trout and salmon (NCA4). Warmer water and other climate change effects can also promote harmful algal blooms (Griffith and Gobler 2020). In addition, every Great Lake in the Midwest U.S. has warmed at least 1.5°F (0.8°C) between 1995 and 2018, led by Lake Ontario at 2.2°F (1.2°C) (Climate Central 2019).

Arctic sea ice

Arctic sea ice extent has decreased, on average, 3.5–4.1 percent per decade since the early 1980s. In September, when ice coverage reaches its annual minimum, the extent has decreased 10.7–15.9 percent per decade. Arctic sea ice loss is expected to continue, very likely resulting in nearly ice-free late summers by the 2040s (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 303).

Sea level rise

Antarctica and Greenland have continued to lose ice mass since the Strategy was released, with mounting evidence accumulating that mass loss is accelerating (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 341). This and the thermal expansion of the oceans have increased global mean sea level (GMSL) by about 7–8 inches (16–21 cm) since 1900, with about 3 of those inches (7 cm) occurring since 1993 (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 333). Relative to the year 2000, GMSL is very likely to rise by 0.3–0.6 feet (9–18 cm) by 2030, 0.5–1.2 feet (15–38 cm) by 2050, and 1.0–4.3 feet (30–130 cm) by 2100 (NCA4, Vol. 1, p.333).

Changes in timing, form, and quantity of precipitation

Annual precipitation in the United States has increased around 4 percent since 1901, mostly because of large increases during the fall. Annual precipitation has decreased in much of the West, Southwest, and Southeast and increased in most of the Northern and Southern Plains, Midwest, and Northeast (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 207). In the Northwest, declining winter precipitation, especially during drought years, has decreased regional streamflows (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 236).

Heavy precipitation events (defined as days with precipitation in the top 1 percent of all days with precipitation) have increased in both intensity and frequency. The largest increases have been in

the northeastern United States. The frequency and intensity of heavy precipitation events are projected to continue to increase. (50-300% increase in frequency and 14-20% in intensity by 2100) (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 207, 218-220).

Spring snow cover extent, maximum snow depth, snow water equivalent in the western United States, and extreme snowfall years in the southern and western United States have all declined, while extreme snowfall years in parts of the northern United States have increased. Large snowpack declines are projected for the western United States and shifts from snow to rain in much of the central and eastern United States are anticipated (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 207).

Changes in frequency and magnitude of extreme events

Human-induced climate change combine with natural can variations to increase the severity of extreme weather events (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 233). The frequency of heat waves has increased since the mid-1960s (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 185), as have high-temperature records (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 192). Due to higher temperatures increasing evapotranspiration, droughts have reached record intensity in some regions of the United States (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 231). The current (as of mid-2020) "megadrought" in the southwestern U.S. has been the

worst since the 1500s, partly because of anthropogenic climate change (Williams et al. 2020). The incidence of large forest fires in the western U.S. and Alaska has increased since the early 1980s, with burned area in the West doubling between 1984 and 2015 (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 243). Nationwide data (Fig. 4) show a quadrupling of yearly wildfire extent. Increasing temperatures and aridity are major factors (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 243). Forest fires are projected to further increase in the West and Alaska as the climate warms, creating profound changes to ecosystems such as boreal forests and tundra (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 231).

Flood frequencies and magnitudes have also increased in some areas, although a formal attribution to climate change has not been definitively established (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 231).

Figure 2. Area burned in U.S. wildfires, 1983–2019 (data from National Interagency Fire Center [NIFC] 2020). Data prior to 1983 are unconfirmed or inconsistent and, according to NIFC, should not be compared to later data.

Major hurricanes (category 3 and higher) have increased in the North Atlantic Ocean since the 1970s (Fig. 5; data from National Hurricane Center).

Rising sea temperatures are increasing the intensity and rainfall of tropical cyclones (NCA4, Vol. 1, Ch. 9). In 2017, Hurricane Harvey dumped a record 60.6 inches of rain onto Southeast Texas, inundating hundreds of thousands of



Figure 5. Major hurricanes in the North Atlantic Ocean 1966–2020. (National Hurricane Center)

homes. Trenberth et al. (2018) showed that record high ocean heat values, the result of warming temperatures, intensified Harvey and increased its rainfall. Also, in 2017, Hurricane Maria produced record-breaking rainfall over Puerto Rico, which caused unprecedented flooding and landslides. Keellings and Hernández Ayala (2019) showed that the trend of increasing air and sea surface temperatures significantly increased the likelihood of extreme precipitation events like Hurricane Maria. Reed et al. (2020) showed that human-induced climate change increased the amount of rainfall of Hurricane Florence in 2018.

Models project that hurricane intensities and precipitation will continue to increase as the climate warms. The frequency of the most intense storms is also projected to increase. Sea level rise is expected to increase the extent of inland flooding from coastal storms (NCA4, Vol. 1, Ch. 9).

Changes in atmospheric and ocean circulation

Ocean acidification, warming, and oxygen loss are all increasing. Both oxygen loss and acidification may be magnified in some U.S. coastal waters relative to the global average, raising the risk of serious ecological and economic consequences. There is some evidence that the Atlantic Meridional Circulation, sometimes referred to as "the ocean's conveyor belt," may be slowing down but this is uncertain (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 57). Such changes in circulation could have dramatic climate feedbacks as the ocean absorbs less heat and CO_2 from the atmosphere (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 364).

Model uncertainty

Future climate conditions are modeled using current and historical data coupled with known physical, chemical, and biological processes. All models contain inherent uncertainty, which can be reported in terms of confidence and likelihood. In NCA4, predictive confidence is "based on the type, amount, quality, strength, and consistency of evidence; the [accuracy], range, and consistency of model projections; and the degree of agreement within the body of literature."

Likelihood, or the probability of an effect or impact occurring, "is based on measures of uncertainty expressed probabilistically" (NCA4, Vol. 1, p. 6).

As observations and research continue, our knowledge of the climate system increases, and the evidence for human-caused warming of the global atmosphere and oceans becomes more and more overwhelming. NCA4 (Vol. 1, p. 12) concludes that "there is no convincing alternative explanation." The effects of climate change are already happening, consistent with previous model projections. One of the biggest sources of predictive uncertainty concerns the trajectory of future greenhouse gas concentrations. The magnitude of future effects depends on the degree to which humans cut carbon emissions and remove CO₂ from the atmosphere (e.g., through reforestation and blue carbon initiatives). In addition, predictions tend to become less certain the further in time they extend, and the more geographically specific they are. For example, NCA4 (Vol. 1, p. 207) predicted large snowpack declines across the western United States with "high confidence," but more specific regional and seasonal precipitation changes were predicted with "medium confidence."

Climate models continue to be improved, but sufficient evidence already exists to predict many changes with medium to high confidence. Minimizing the damage from climate change impacts will require action today, and adaptive management approaches will best support adaptation efforts that seek to account for uncertainty in projections and management outcomes.

Climate Change Impacts on Fish, Wildlife, and Plants

Contributing Authors: Aimee Delach, Bob Newman, Madeleine Rubenstein

Climate change is affecting fish, wildlife, and plants in significant and pervasive ways, with clear impacts documented across a range of taxonomic groups, regions, and ecosystem types (USGCRP 2018, Ch. 7). Impacts include both direct and indirect effects of climate change, ranging from altered behavior and physiology in response to rising temperatures to novel ecological relationships as species shift their spatial and temporal distributions.

Section 2.3 of the 2012 Strategy report (National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Partnership 2012) provided a lengthy overview of climate change impacts on fish, wildlife, and plants, summarizing the seven types of climate change impacts (increased temperatures, melting ice and snow, rising sea levels, changes in ocean circulation patterns, changing precipitation patterns, drought, and extreme weather) on eight major ecosystem types (forests, shrublands, grasslands, deserts, tundra, inland waters, coastal, and marine ecosystems). The NCA4 (USGCRP 2018) provides extensive additional material in its chapters "Land Use Change," "Forests," "Ecosystems, Ecosystem Services, & Biodiversity," "Coastal Effects," and "Oceans and Marine Resources." Rather than duplicating that ecosystem-level information, this section provides a supplement to recent science regarding impacts to species and communities.

Behavioral, morphological, and physiological impacts

The ability to shift behaviors to avoid climate stress is an important species response to anthropogenic change, and this plasticity may be particularly important in situations where the rate of change or local conditions preclude a range shift or evolutionary response (Wong and Candolin 2015). For instance, the American pika (*Ochotona princeps*) has been referred to in popular literature as "the poster child for climate change" (Hannibal 2012) due to its temperature sensitivity and restricted range. Recent observations have revealed that pikas alter their behavior in a number of ways to adapt to changing climate conditions, including increasing use of shaded non-talus habitats; making partial dietary shifts to year-round food sources, such as moss, and direct drinking of water during dry months, rather than indirect water consumption through vegetation; increasing activity around dusk; and assuming a less heat-conserving body posture in warm conditions (Beever et al. 2017).

However, these behavioral shifts may be insufficient to counter the magnitude of change, or may be maladaptive by increasing risk of predation, or by decreasing opportunities for foraging and reproduction. For instance, Agassiz's desert tortoises can escape heat by burrowing and are particularly adept at finding scarce water sources, yet an extended drought in Joshua Tree National Park in 2012 still inflicted high levels of mortality (James 2014). Desert lizards that have had to expand their time sheltering to avoid reaching critical physiological thermal maxima show reduced population persistence (Sinervo et al. 2010). Similarly, desert woodrats (*Neotomoa lepida*) in Death Valley "have less time to spend for the essential activities of mating and foraging" when ambient air temperatures fail to drop below the species' maximum thermal thresholds (Murray and Smith 2012).

Morphological changes to body size and shape have also been linked to climatic changes. In general animals found in cold climates are relatively larger and have a more spherical body shape, to decrease the surface-to-volume ratio and prevent heat loss, while animals of warmer climates tend toward more elongated bodies and larger ears, tails, and noses (see Fig. 6, for instance, the differences between two members of the genus *Lepus*, the snowshoe hare (left) and desert-dwelling black-tailed jackrabbit (right). This relationship has been demonstrated within species, within genera, and within higher taxonomic levels (Blackburn et al. 1999), and among many ectotherms as well as endotherms (Angilletta et al. 2004). Furthermore, the fossil record shows average animal body size inversely correlated with global temperature for numerous taxa of vertebrates (Davis 1981, Clavel and Morlon 2017) and invertebrates (Hunt and Roy 2006).



Figure 3. Morphological changes to body size and shape has been linked to climatic changes, such as with the snowshoe hare (left) and black-tailed jackrabbit (right). (USFWS; Utah DNR)

Following from this observed relationship, several researchers have hypothesized that climate warming has driven reductions in body size, and this trend has indeed been observed. Bison (*Bison bison*) mass has declined in recent decades, likely in response to heat and drought (Martin and Barboza 2020). Increased temperatures have also been associated with body mass decreases in mountain wagtails (*Motacilla clara*) in South Africa (Prokosch et al. 2019) and house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) from Australia and New Zealand (Andrew et al. 2018). A more extensive study of 44 birds and mammals found that most of the terrestrial species decreased in size, while aquatic species have also experienced declines in body size linked to rising sea temperatures (Daufresne et al. 2009; Sheridan and Bickford 2011; but also see Naya et al 2017) Body size is critical for ecosystem functioning in marine ecosystems (see Blanchard et al 2017), with implications for ecosystem services if body sizes continue to decline (see section below on Ecosystem Services). Potential issues associated with a trend to decreased body size include decreased reproductive and migration success, as has been demonstrated for the red knot (*Calidris canutus canutus*; van Gils et al. 2016), and the threat of lowered survivorship in adverse conditions, such as cold snaps (Gardner et al. 2017) or droughts (Luhring and Holdo 2015).

Climate warming can also impact physiology. Aerobic metabolism is strongly influenced by temperature (Schulte 2015) and may increase physiological rates especially for freshwater and marine animals (Seebacher et al. 2015). Increased metabolic activity correlates to increased energetic requirements, which could have implications for food web dynamics. Higher aerobic metabolic activity also increases oxygen demand, which is a potential issue for aquatic and marine organisms, due to the inverse relationship between water temperature and dissolved oxygen level (IPCC 2019). A further physiological threat due to anthropogenic emissions is ocean acidification due to dissolution of carbon dioxide in water; the resultant pH reduction interferes with calcification reactions critical to shell- and skeleton-building in marine organisms (IPCC 2019).

Range shifts

Geographic range shifts (i.e., distributional shifts or range shifts) are well-documented impacts of climate change in terrestrial, freshwater, and marine environments (Parmesan and Yohe 2003, Chen et al 2011). As temperatures rise, many species are expected to shift their ranges polewards in latitude, upwards in elevation, and deeper in marine depth to track thermal niches, and this general trend has been supported by numerous meta-analyses across both terrestrial and marine environments (Burrows et al. 2011, Lenoir and Svenning 2015). Generally, these shifts occur through contractions at the trailing edge (i.e., the southern or warm edge) and/or through expansion at the leading edge (i.e., the northern or cool edge), although the mechanisms of range shift may vary greatly across species, including direct temperature-driven mortality to competitive release or negative interactions with invasive species (Siren and Morelli. 2020). A recent review found that over half of plant and animal species in North America have demonstrated range shifts through either cool edge expansion or warm edge contraction (Wiens 2016), and a majority of marine taxa have similarly displayed shifts in latitude and depth consistent with expectations (Pinsky et al. 2013).

There is, however, substantial variation in observed responses across species, and not all species are demonstrating uniform spatial responses to climate change (Lenoir and Svenning, 2015). There are many factors determining how species are distributed across the landscape, and while maintaining thermal niches is important, species also respond to changing precipitation patterns, land use, and emergent characteristics like interactions with other species and fire regime (Rowe et al. 2015). Indeed, species have been observed to shift in ways contradictory to climate-driven hypotheses (e.g., downhill shifts) in response to precipitation and land use factors (Bhatta 2018, Lenoir et al 2010). Species interactions, microclimates, land use change, and barriers to migration can all prevent species from shifting in ways predicted solely based on temperature change (Estrada et al. 2016).

While range shifts can be an adaptive response to warming as species seek to maintain their climate space, these movements can also expose species to other threats. For instance, critically endangered North Atlantic right whales have shifted their range north, likely reflecting climatedriven range shifts in their major food source, zooplankton, as well as altered fishing practices. This range shift combined with changes in the fishing industry exposes them to increased mortality from entanglement in fishing gear and collisions with large ships, because protective restrictions on these activities are based on the whales' historical migration patterns, not their new movements (Friedlander 2017). Additionally, invasive and damaging species are also shifting their ranges, potentially exposing native flora and fauna to competition, predation, and disease risk (USGCRP 2018, Chapter 7). Finally, as native species shift their ranges, recipient communities can suffer harmful impacts, despite the fact that these range shifts may be adaptive for the incoming species (Wallingford et al. 2020).

Phenological shifts

Changes to phenology, the timing of important life-cycle events such as flowering or migration, were among the early observed indicators of climate change effects on ecosystems (Post et al. 2001, Prodon et al. 2017, Piao et al. 2019, Menzel et al. 2020). Many biological processes and activities are highly temperature and moisture dependent, and a growing body of evidence underscores the clear and geographically widespread changes in phenology occurring as a result

of climate change. Changes in phenology can impact demography, either positively (adaptive resource tracking; Socolar et al. 2017, Mallory et al. 2020) or negatively (phenological mismatches; Parmesan 2006, Miller-Rushing et al. 2010, Zimova et al. 2018), so it is important to understand the patterns and limits to phenotypic shifts in timing induced by a changing environment, as well as their demographic implications (Walker et al. 2019).

Since the 2012 Strategy, phenological shifts in response to rising temperatures and altered seasonality have continued to be documented across taxonomic groups and ecosystem types. Common changes include earlier leaf out; flowering (Monahan et al. 2016, Piao et al. 2019, Chen and Yang 2020, Menzel et al. 2020, Prevéy et al. 2020) or peak photosynthetic activity in plants (Park et al. 2019); seasonal migration (Waller et al. 2018, Horton et al. 2020) or onset of breeding in birds (Socolar et al. 2017) and mammals (Rickbeil et al. 2019, Mallory et al. 2020); onset of breeding in amphibians and reptiles (Benard 2015, Prodon et al. 2017, Janzen et al. 2018); longer growing seasons (Chen et al. 2019, Piao et al. 2019); delayed autumnal phenology (Gallinat et al. 2015), and advances in the phenology of aquatic ecosystems (Staudinger et al, 2019). Changes also encompass responses to shifting seasonality in precipitation or the timing of seasonal drought (Piao et al. 2019). Not all studies have detected shifts, however, in some cases because other proximate factors may be more important or mask longer-term climate-driven shifts. For example, timing of peak migration of birds across the Gulf of Mexico has apparently not changed (Horton et al. 2019), suggesting that any detected phenological changes observed at higher latitudes are the result of altered local conditions farther north, rather than migration timing itself. Several studies of amphibian breeding phenology suggest a complex interplay of long-term climate trends, shorter-term climate variation, opposing effects of changing temperature seasonality and precipitation, and other proximate factors (Green 2017, Prodon et al. 2017). Similar complexity is also evident in plant phenological changes (Piao et al. 2019) and probably for most species (e.g., elk; Rickbeil et al. 2019). Ongoing continental monitoring of climate and phenology will help refine our understanding of the proximate environmental controls of altered timing of events (Hoekman et al. 2016, Crimmins et al. 2017).

Demographic/population-level impacts

The 2012 Strategy clearly identifies risks to fish, wildlife, and plants arising from climate change (e.g., section 2.3 and throughout), either directly resulting from a species' physiological tolerances to a changing physical environment, indirectly through impacts on other species that interact with the focal species, or through the combined effects of climate change and other stressors. Many of the impacts already observed and reported in the Strategy, including declines in abundance and shifts in geographic distribution, necessarily imply an effect on the processes that underlay demography and population dynamics, including individual survival, reproduction, or movement. In the past decade, these concerns have been amplified by mounting evidence that climate change and other human impacts are causing declines in abundance of many species and increases in extinction risk (Wiens 2016, Spooner et al. 2018, Diaz et al. 2019, Román-Palacios and Wiens 2020). North American bird populations, for example, have declined dramatically in the last 50 years, and although this cannot be attributed solely to climate change, climate change likely has magnified the impacts of other human-caused stressors (Rosenberg et al. 2019). In some studies, more specific evidence points to climate change as a key factor; such is the case for tree swallows, for whom weather conditions during nesting appear to have a large impact on offspring survival (Cox et al. 2020). Tree swallows rely on flying insects as a food resource, and Cox et al (2020) suggest that other insectivorous birds and bats may be similarly impacted by climate-related conditions (increased precipitation) that reduce insect flight activity.

Declines in many arthropods, including insects, have also been reported and attributed to a suite of human activities (Seibold et al. 2019). In some cases, notably bumble bees, climate change appears to be a direct contributing factor to declines in abundance because of shifts in temperature regimes (Soroye et al. 2020). Although the specific mechanisms remain unclear, the authors cite evidence for both direct effects of temperature on survival and reproduction, as well as effects on needed floral resources. Again, the combined effects of non-climate stressors such as agricultural intensification and increased pesticide use (Seibold et al. 2019) and direct climate effects are both important drivers of population-level changes. The abundance of other ectothermic species, such as desert lizards, has also been shown to be sensitive to changing temperature and precipitation patterns, although the specific responses depended on species tolerances and the exact nature of climatic changes (Flesch et al. 2017).

Climate change–associated reductions in snowfall are having widespread, negative effects on species that rely on the insulating properties of snow cover, including impacts to demographic rates. For example, reduced snow cover reduces overwinter survival of wood frogs by increasing exposure to intolerably cold temperatures in this freeze-tolerant amphibian (O'Connor and Rittenhouse 2016). In contrast, some species, such as grazing ungulates, may benefit by improved access to forage (Christie et al. 2015). Warmer winters may also have counterintuitive effects. Benard (2015) found that wood frogs experiencing warmer winters and earlier springs began breeding earlier, but had reduced fecundity. Because early spring water temperature remained cool, larval development in these small ectotherms was also slower. Several things are clear even from this limited survey: climate change has been causing declines, extirpations, and has increased extinction risk (Urban et al 2015); the impacts of climate change are often the result of synergistic effects with other factors; and climate impacts are complex and context dependent.

Emergent properties (novel communities)

Emergent properties of ecosystems include characteristics of ecological communities defined by multiple components of that system, such as species interactions, the effects of invasive or novel species, and food web structures. Climate change is driving changes to emergent properties by altering species interactions and through variable impacts on species, taxonomic groups, and trophic levels. Climate change, for example, is recognized to have a greater impact on higher trophic levels, for example, resulting in altered predator–prey dynamics (NCA4 Ch. 7).

There are many variables involved in the potential emergence of novel community interactions: the success or failure of species movement in response to changing climate conditions, the relative pace at which they do so compared to other species within their original community, as well as whether and at what rate species from other climate spaces are moving. These possible scenarios are illustrated with respect to potential future competitive interactions for a target plant, in Fig. 7, taken from Alexander et al. (2015), who found inconsistent competitive responses in a



manipulative experiment and "species' concluded that range dynamics depend not only on their ability to track climate, but also the migration of the species with which they interact, and the extent to which novel and current competitors exert differing competitive effects." Similarly complex dynamics are likely at play in other types of species interactions. like pollination. herbivory, predation, larval host, mutualism, parasitism, and disease ecology (Blois et al. 2013).

Figure 4. Scenarios for the competition experienced by a focal alpine plant following climate warming. From (Alexander et al. 2015)

Non-Climate Stressors on Fish, Wildlife, and Plants, and Interactions with Climate Change

Contributing Authors: Robert Newman, Tracy Melvin, Maggie Ernest Johnson, Ted Weber

The Strategy, like other syntheses before and after, recognized the major role that a small number of pervasive, non-climate factors play in influencing species status and ecosystem structure and function. For populations already demographically impaired, or ecosystems whose integrity is already challenged by these factors, climate change may push systems past their resilience thresholds, resulting in extinctions and/or transitions to new ecosystem states. The Strategy emphasized the need to mitigate such factors as an essential element of climate adaptation.

The Strategy defined non-climate stressors, in the context of climate change, as current or future pressures and impacts threatening species and natural systems that do not stem from climate change, such as habitat fragmentation, invasive species, pollution and contamination, disease, and overexploitation (National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Partnership 2012). However, while these stressors to fish, wildlife, and plants are not driven by climate change, they may be exacerbated by climate change. Moreover, they do not act independently of each other, creating the potential for their combined impacts (including interactions with climate) to be much greater than the sum of the individual effects. Over the past decade, our understanding of the interrelatedness between climate change and non-climate stressors has steadily grown, emphasizing the need to reduce these stressors where possible to ensure natural systems cope with the additional pressures imposed by these global changes. In this section, we briefly summarize recent advances in our understanding

Habitat loss, fragmentation, degradation, and changing geography

Habitat loss and fragmentation, and the degradation of remaining habitat, are among the greatest factors impacting wildlife and biodiversity globally (Newbold et al. 2015, Betts et al. 2019, Diaz et al. 2019). For most species, specifically those not intensively harvested (e.g., commercial fisheries, recurrent poaching) or devastated by disease, habitat loss is arguably the single greatest factor placing them at risk. This has been an ongoing process in North America for several centuries, driven largely by conversion of native forests and grasslands to agriculture, large-scale logging, channelization or impoundment of rivers and streams, water withdrawals and diversions, and drainage of wetlands for agriculture or development (Kirschbaum et al. 2016, Bustamante et al. 2018, Cavender-Bares et al. 2018).

Moreover, the effects of habitat loss and fragmentation are often greater than what might occur solely from reduced area alone, because of interactions with other stressors (Francis 2015). For example, changing land use increases exposure of remnant areas to chemical pollution (Evelsizer and Skopec 2018), altered hydrology (Gordon et al. 2008), and greater incursion of invasive exotic species that displace native species or otherwise alter ecosystem function (Vasquez et al. 2010, Vila et al. 2011, Gallardo et al. 2015). Several studies have shown that fragmentation and increased edge have reduced the distribution and abundance of forest birds and other wildlife species throughout North America (Yahner 1988, Hansen and Urban 1992, Donovan et al. 1995, Robinson et al. 1995). Fragmentation reduces functional connectivity and can lead to reduced species diversity and altered composition of biotic communities (Wilson et al. 2016, Crooks et al. 2017). Smaller, isolated patches are less able than large patches to support interior or wideranging species, are more prone to stochastic extinctions, and are less likely to be recolonized (Dramstad et al. 1996, Hanski 1997, Tilman et al. 1997, With and King 1999). Therefore, they tend to have lower species richness (Harris 1984, Forman and Godron 1986). As species are lost from an ecosystem, those that depend on them for food, pollination, or other needs, also begin to disappear. Ecosystems with lower diversity are generally less efficient (Odum 1983). For example, diverse communities are more likely to contain species able to utilize different amounts and combinations of limiting resources like nutrients or light, and more likely to have symbiotic relationships. They may also be less resilient to additional stressors like disease or pest outbreaks. In short, most non-climate stressors have historically occurred in concert with habitat loss and fragmentation to the detriment of native biodiversity. These concerns were well established when the Strategy was produced and remain relevant.

Within North America, the patterns of habitat change vary regionally, depending on human population demands, land use, and other economic considerations (e.g., Wimberly et al. 2017, Vose et al. 2018). For example, most forest in the U.S. was logged by European colonists and their descendants, and a quarter of it was converted to agriculture, especially in the eastern U.S. (Thompson et al. 2013, USFS 2014). Much of this grew back when farms were abandoned, and overall forest area in the U.S. has been relatively stable since 1910, with forest regrowing in some areas but being lost to development or surface mining elsewhere (Thompson et al. 2013, USFS 2014). Forest structure and species composition (see Fig. 8) has changed significantly, though, because of human management, introduced diseases and pests, invasive species, and altered fire regimes (Thompson et al. 2013, USFS 2014, Whitman et al. 2019).



Figure 5. Relative composition of pre-colonial era Witness Trees and modern inventory trees in 701 colonial townships in the northeastern USA (from Thompson et al. 2013).

Only about half of the original grasslands of North America remain, and losses continued in recent years as crop prices fluctuated and additional conversion to cropland occurred (IPBES 2018 section 3.4.1.7; Wimberley et al. 2017, 2018). Even in areas that remain classified as grassland, expansion of invasive plants has reduced native diversity and altered habitat quality and ecosystem function for wildlife and livestock (Hendrickson et al. 2018). Wetland losses have also continued, primarily because of continued drainage and conversion to agriculture (Dahl 2011, Johnston 2013) or development or saltwater intrusion in coastal wetlands (Dahl and Stedman 2013). The specific nature and experience of habitat change for species dwelling in forests, grasslands, wetlands, and other systems necessarily varies by species, but these general observations clearly illustrate the challenge faced by wild species in North America and globally (IPBES 2019).

With the history of reductions in extent, connectivity, and quality of habitats of all types as a backdrop, current and future projected climate change adds new concerns to habitat availability and quality. The first, and most obvious, effect is that a warming climate alters biophysical

conditions through changes in temperature and precipitation patterns that may eventually deviate from the genetic tolerances of species living in an area (climate mismatch, a direct impact of climate change). Local habitat becomes less suitable for species according to species-specific tolerances and inevitably leads to changes in the biotic communities. Lakes in Wisconsin (and likely elsewhere), for example, are becoming warmer, which may explain declines in cold water–preferring walleye populations and increases in warmer temperature–tolerant largemouth bass (Hansen et al. 2017). Grassland plant communities in an Oklahoma prairie also appeared to shift in composition from cooler/wetter adapted C₃ to warmer/drier adapted C₄-dominated communities at least partially in response to climate variations (Shi et al. 2017).

Shifts in habitat suitability for some species are also likely to have cascading effects for other species in an ecosystem, even if conditions for all involved species remain within tolerance limits. The quality of the habitat for a species depends not only on abiotic suitability, but also on interactions with other species, thus increasing the prospects of indirect impacts of climate change acting through prey species, pollinators, predators, pathogens, competitors, and other interactors (Dell et al. 2014). Invasive species may also amplify effects of climate change, such as increases in fire frequency or intensity in grasslands resulting from fire-tolerant cheatgrass invasion of newly burned areas (Ashton et al. 2016, Fusco et al 2019) and forests (Vose et al. 2018), which may represent another source of habitat degradation for natives. Either direct or indirect impacts may occur because of changes in mean conditions, changing extremes, or changes in seasonality. For example, more frequent droughts may reduce or exclude less tolerant or resilient species (Gregg and Kershner 2019, Whitman et al. 2019), and longer or warmer growing seasons may alter the balance of competitive relationships among plant species, plant community structure, and thus habitat suitability for animals in those ecosystems (Prather and Kaspari 2019). Both mechanisms may lead to ecosystem transformations that reduce habitat availability for species but make conditions more favorable for others.

Environmental changes, whether relatively sudden (e.g., fires, storms, or floods) or more gradual (changes in climate) are typically patchy; some areas are affected more than others. Despite regional climate changes and interactions with other factors, some locations (see Fig. 9) may continue to provide suitable habitat, functioning as climate refugia (Michalak et al. 2018). Shaded areas, like north-facing slopes, receive less solar heating and will stay cooler than non-shaded areas by around 2–6°C depending on steepness and other factors (Dobrowski 2011). Valleys and coves that pool cold air will also stay cooler (Dobrowski 2011, Morelli et al. 2016). Areas near large deep lakes or oceans will also warm more slowly due to the high heat capacity of water (Stralberg et al. 2020). Wet areas, including wetlands, riparian zones, and fog belts (see Fig. 9), can act as climate change refugia (Morelli et al. 2016), especially if fed by groundwater (Stralberg et al. 2020). They can remain moist during droughts, thereby supporting plants and animals. This moisture can also cool the air (Stralberg et al. 2020). Persistent snow can provide critical habitat for species like snowshoe hares and wolverines (Link et al. 2020). And tree canopies can buffer ground temperatures, lowering maximums and increasing minimums (Stralberg et al. 2020).



Figure 9. Types of climate refugia (from Morelli et al. 2016).



Figure 10. Hydrologic processes and landscape features associated with potential mesic microrefugia (from McLaughlin et al. 2017).

Cold-water aquatic organisms, like salmon, trout, hellbenders, spring salamanders, and a number of macroinvertebrate species, are among the most vulnerable taxa to climate change. They are becoming more and more restricted to persistent cold-water habitats such as forested headwater streams, spring-fed streams, and/or habitats supported by groundwater or seasonal snowmelt (Ebersole et al. 2020). Streams and rivers that are buffered from regional air temperatures via cold groundwater inputs provide cold, sustained streamflows in regions where water temperatures would otherwise become too warm or streamflows too low during the summer months (Morelli et al. 2016). Shading by valley walls and/or trees can also help regulate stream temperatures. Sufficiently large and connected cold-water stream networks can provide refugia for imperiled fish populations facing increasing pressures from temperature warming and other stressors (Morelli et al. 2016).

In arid or semi-arid regions, groundwater-fed seeps and springs can support persistent populations of highly diverse taxa, both aquatic and terrestrial (Morelli et al. 2016). They are biodiversity hotspots and keystone ecosystems that have a disproportionate influence on surrounding landscapes despite their relatively small size (Cartwright et al. 2020). Some springs may provide stable hydrologic refugia during extended or persistent drought, becoming

increasingly important to groundwater-dependent species (Cartwright et al. 2020). Such refugia are associated with long groundwater residence times, flow and thermal stability, and muted responses to climatic warming and drying (Cartwright et al. 2020). Other springs may be relative or transient refugia, undergoing major ecological shifts or eventually disappearing (Cartwright et al. 2020).

Such safe havens may be temporary, though. As habitat availability or guality diminishes, they may become less able to support viable populations or communities. For some springs, even small reductions in discharge can produce substantial changes in habitat suitability (Cartwright et al. 2020). There is also a possibility of water temperatures rising beyond dependent species' thermal limits, and/or changes in dissolved oxygen, salinity, or pH (Cartwright et al. 2020). Species persistence in climate refugia will also be challenged by the fragmentation and isolation imposed by reductions in the number and spatial distribution of such refugia. Disturbances, such as drought, fire, disease outbreaks, or harvest (Burgess et al. 2017) in refugial areas can magnify extinction risk as species have fewer places where they can maintain viable populations. All of these factors reinforce the importance of considering future conditions in protection and management strategies. Geographic distributions of suitable habitats are changing, with those associated with cooler conditions shifting poleward, higher in elevation, to moister sites, etc. (Kjesbu et al. 2014, Gillingham et al. 2015, Lipton et al. 2018, Michalak et al. 2018, D'Aloia et al. 2019). The extent to which species' distributions will track habitat shifts and thus mitigate climate change impacts depends on continued availability of habitat somewhere, a species' dispersal capability and, critically, on the opportunity to disperse, which is a function of availability of intervening habitat to support their needs (Carroll et al. 2018, Littlefield et al. 2019).

Invasive species

The Strategy noted that climate change has already enabled range expansion or shifts of some invasive species, that have or will likely create welcoming conditions for new invasive species and can serve as the trigger by which nonnative species become invasive. Many of these species already cause ecological and economic harm, such as competition for habitat, decreases in biodiversity, and predation of native species. Climate change can facilitate the introduction and spread of invasive species through severe weather events such as storms and floods, and indirectly through shifting climate envelopes (areas where the climate is suitable for a particular species).

In recent years, scientists have also observed climate change triggering native species to act invasively. For example, native forest pests, such as the mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) and spruce beetle (*D. rufipennis*), have been reaching epidemic proportions due to warming temperatures expanding their ranges and populations (Hebertson and Jenkins 2008, Cullingham et al. 2011). Such colonizing at rates outside the historical range of variability can create feedbacks that shift ecological trajectories. For example, beetle outbreaks may decrease a forest's resilience to fire by increasing the fuel load and eliminating sources of reseeding. Multiple disturbances can contribute to significant changes in some systems. In the Jemez Mountains in New Mexico, for example, a combination of hotter droughts, insect outbreaks, and

recurring severe wildfires converted much of the landscape from forest to non-forest (Stephens et al. 2018, Krawchuk et al. 2020).

Scientists have reiterated that invasive species management includes preventing introductions of nonnative species, containing or eradicating new arrivals, and mitigating the impacts of established populations (Simberloff et al. 2013). Recent literature, however, is emphasizing that invasive species management will increasingly need to assess species for their potential to spread with changing climate envelopes, and to assess species for their potentiality for injurious biotic interactions, such as carrying pests and pathogens to new hosts (Rockwell-Postel et al. 2020, Wallingford et al. 2020). Although early detection and a rapid coordinated response should continually be employed to contain invasive species (National Invasive Species Council 2016), species should be assessed regarding their overall global distributions (i.e., is the species threatened or endangered with a changing climate) and use for functional diversity in degraded habitats. Tracking biological invasions across scales is key to their management, and global, coordinated efforts are required (Latombe et al. 2017).

Overuse and destructive harvest practices

Although studies have demonstrated that agriculture and the overexploitation of plants and animal species are significantly greater threats to biodiversity than climate change, finding almost 75 percent of the world's threatened species face threats of habitat destruction or harvest practices, compared to just 19 percent affected by climate change, climate change is expected to become a "threat multiplier," or amplifier of existing stressors to the biodiversity crisis (Maxwell et al. 2016). It is the interaction of overuse, destructive harvest practices, and a changing climate that can exacerbate and propel the rapid defaunation of the biosphere, with synergistic effects on ecosystem services. This could also be considered in terms of press vs. pulse disturbances, where the directional pressure of climate change (an overarching, long-term change considered a "press") further amplifies exploitive or destructive disturbances (shorter-term, spatially explicit changes considered a "pulse"). Overfishing and nutrient pollution, for example, have demonstrated effects on resilience of corals at the microbial level to changes in the environment (Zaneveld et al. 2016), which can have effects on marine fisheries. The maximum catch from fisheries could decline by as much as 24.1 percent by the end of the century if greenhouse gas emissions continue unabated (Bindoff et al. 2019). The diversity and functioning of biological communities play a large role in dampening the effects of anthropogenic stressors on ecosystems, and is therefore critical to maintaining ecosystem services that support human wellbeing (Díaz et al. 2019).

Pollution

Climate change is and will continue to amplify the effects of pollution on the fish, wildlife, plants, and other natural resources of the United States. Changes in temperature, pH, dilution rates, salinity, and other environmental conditions will modify the availability of pollutants, increase the exposure and sensitivity of species to pollutants, and change transport patterns and the uptake and toxicity of pollutants (Noyes et al. 2009). In recent years, there has been an explosion of

literature surrounding plastic pollution, specifically on microplastics (Fig. 11). While the damaging effects of plastic pollution, especially in our oceans, has been well documented for many years, emerging research is showing that microplastics, defined as plastic pieces 5 millimeters or smaller, is a major public health and natural resource concern. For example, it is estimated that people consume an average of 5 grams of plastic, equivalent to the size of a credit card, each week via food and water consumption (WWF 2019). Microplastics can be a result of larger plastic pieces breaking down, resin pellets used in plastic manufacturing, or in the form of microbeads, common in health and beauty products (NOAA 2018).



Figure 6. Microplastic debris (photo courtesy Oregon State University)

Plastic waste is a difficult global problem that is exacerbating, and being exacerbated by, climate change. New research has shown that as plastics break down, they also emit methane and ethylene, which are powerful greenhouse gases (Royer et al. 2018). In addition, as change impacts climate ocean circulation, this will impact the abundance and distribution of marine plastic pollution, of which the implications to coastal communities and ecosystems are still not well understood (Welden and Lusher 2017). Reduction of plastic pollution

will benefit the climate and the health of people, fish, wildlife, and ecosystems.

Pathogens

"Globalization and the increasing movement of people and goods around the world have enabled pests, pathogens, and other species to travel quickly over long distances and effectively occupy new areas" (National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Partnership 2012). The Strategy emphasizes that many pathogens of terrestrial and marine taxa are sensitive to temperature, rainfall, and humidity, making them sensitive to climate change.

Higher temperatures are believed to increase vector development and create a faster completion of life cycles, but may not correlate with more generations of parasites per season or an extended season for transmission, as they may affect the survival rate in the opposite direction, meaning shorter lifespans and more idiosyncratic environments (Altizer et al. 2013). Climate change may also result in increasing pathogen development and survival rates, disease transmission, and host susceptibility. Although most host–parasite systems are predicted to experience more frequent or severe disease impacts under climate change, a subset of pathogens might decline with warming, releasing hosts from a source of population regulation (Short et al. 2017).

Many knowledge gaps remain in understanding how climate change affects the distribution of vector-borne diseases and lack of data is one problem (Ogden 2018). Among the possible critical data needed for predicting disease distribution and risk are coldest temperature in winter, hottest temperature in summer, variability in temperature, or a wide range of other non-temperature climate variables (Ogden 2018).

Emerging conflicts – Recreation

While the Strategy referenced climate change impacts to recreation throughout, it did not explicitly cite recreation as an existing stressor. It has been clear, however, for many years that with an increased use of parks by the public, they stand at risk of being "loved to death" (Laming 1990; Floyd 2001). This is due to vehicle and other electric transportation use, increased infrastructure needs, litter and pollution, and human–wildlife conflict. Exacerbating these growing management issues are projected changes in recreational use of parks and open spaces because of climate change impacts. For example, warm weather recreational spaces may see significant increases in use. Demand for biking, beachgoing, and other warm weather–associated activities are projected to increase as winters become milder (NCA4, Ch. 7), opening more recreational opportunities, thus compounding existing pressures many of these spaces already face.

Impacts on Ecosystem Services

Contributing Authors: Joe Burns, Maggie Ernest Johnson, Madeleine Rubenstein, Ted Weber

Overview of ecosystem services

Ecosystem services are the characteristics, functions, or processes of an ecosystem that directly or indirectly contribute to human well-being (MEA 2005, Costanza et al. 2017). Humans derive benefits from the natural environment through four primary types of ecosystem services: provisioning services, supporting services, regulating services, and cultural services (MEA 2005), and can be valued both monetarily and non-monetarily.

Monetary estimates of ecosystem services vary widely, and depend on the ecosystem type, structure, services included in the estimate, their utility to human beneficiaries, and other factors. Costanza et al. (1997) estimated that ecosystem services contribute at least as much to the global economy as do marketplace processes reported in traditional measures of Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Investing in protection and restoration of forests, wetlands, reefs, and other natural ecosystems can return far more in economic benefits than the amount invested (Loomis et al. 2000, Balmford et al. 2002, Hardner and McKenney 2006, Jenkins et al. 2010, Dougherty 2011, Markandya 2014).

Climate change impacts on ecosystem services

Climate change impacts such as more frequent extreme events (heat waves, droughts, powerful storms), or simply ecosystem changes driven by steady changes in climatic conditions (e.g., sea level rise) can hinder the ability of ecosystems to provide services to humans. For example, tidal marshes can protect inland areas from storm surges (Costanza et al. 2008), but these marshes are disappearing as sea level rises (NCA4, Vol. I, p. 379). Warming temperatures and droughts in the western U.S. could reduce duck and trout populations, which will impact provisioning and cultural ecosystem services such as hunting and recreation (Warziniack et al. 2018), and higher precipitation can overwhelm the capacity of wetlands to buffer against flooding (Mallakpur and Villarini 2015). Climate change is also making Native American subsistence, ceremonial, and economic activities increasingly difficult, as traditionally important plants and animals disappear from tribal lands (Norton-Smith et al. 2016). Likewise, biodiversity losses, like the loss of coral reefs or bird species, can lead to decreased ecotourism, which many local economies rely on (NCA4, Vol. II, p. 278). Climate change can also impact ecosystem services like air and water quality, and decrease the ability of ecosystems to sequester carbon, creating a negative feedback loop (NCA4, Vol. II, p. 278).

Stemming global warming to no more than 2.7°F (1.5°C) above pre-industrial levels would result in the least disruption to biome transformations, range shifts and losses, extinction risks, and changes in phenology, all of which have the potential to disrupt important ecosystem services such as soil conservation, flood control, water quality and quantity, pollination, nutrient cycling, sources of food, and recreation, among others (IPCC Ch. 7).

Ecosystem protection and management

Even while attempting to minimize the magnitude of climate change, we need to implement adaptation

Types of Ecosystem Services

Provisioning services include the goods and materials that humans derive from ecosystems, and constitute some of the most valuable and widely recognized ecosystem services such as food, water, fuel, and fiber.

Supporting services include those services which allow for basic ecosystem functioning and which allow other services to function. Key supporting services include primary productivity (which is a fundamental measure of ecosystem function and provides the foundation for nearly all life on Earth), nutrient cycling, and maintenance of genetic diversity.

Regulating services include the benefits provided by ecosystem processes that moderate natural phenomena. Regulating services include pollination, decomposition, water purification, erosion and flood control, and carbon storage and climate regulation.

Cultural services are the nonmaterial benefits that contribute to the development and cultural advancement of people, including how ecosystems play a role in local, national, and global cultures. They include the building of knowledge and the spreading of ideas, creativity, and inspiration from interactions with nature (music, art, architecture), as well as recreation.

strategies to cope with those effects that are unavoidable. Protecting natural areas and their physical and biological components will not only benefit wildlife, fish, and plants, it will benefit human health and well-being. Natural solutions like reforestation and avoiding deforestation could provide one-third of the climate mitigation needed to keep warming below 3.6°F (2°C) (Griscom et al. 2017). Addressing silvicultural practices (e.g., extending stand rotations on low-vulnerability sites) and reducing damage from fires, pests, and diseases could also help (see Table 1 in Ontl et al. 2020 for a comprehensive menu of strategies and approaches for forest carbon management). Reducing further wetland losses and restoring wetlands and floodplains to increase flood storage capacity can reduce the threat of flooding from extreme weather events and provide valuable habitat and ecological connectivity across a changing landscape. In urban areas, green spaces can reduce stormwater runoff and excess heat generated by a warming planet (Chiabai et al. 2018).

A report by the Global Commission on Adaptation (2019) makes a powerful case for nature-based solutions (aka "green infrastructure") that support ecosystem functions and processes that provide highly valuable ecosystem services

"First, nature-based solutions work for both adaptation and mitigation, since nearly all interventions that reduce climate impacts also increase carbon uptake and storage. There are many other benefits, such as better water quality, more productive natural resources, job creation, improved health, cultural benefits, and biodiversity conservation. Nature-based solutions often work well at a broad scale, such as in whole watershed restorations or along coastlines.

They can be more cost-effective than engineered approaches, like seawalls, and can also work well in tandem with those engineering approaches to control floods, protect coasts, and reduce urban heat. For example, combining "green" and engineered approaches in New York City would lower the costs of flood protection by \$1.5 billion (22 percent) compared to hard infrastructure alone."

Aligning cross-sector priorities

Partnerships between federal, state, and local agencies can align project planning and delivery in order to minimize policy conflicts and competing interests. Collaborative efforts may also reduce administrative costs and duplicative permitting efforts. Similarly, industry and stakeholder groups may welcome working with others to share costs and workload or to achieve greater scales of economy. For example, winter recreation may suffer substantial declines due to warming, causing negative ripple effects in local economies. In the NCA4, authors suggest that by the end of the century, cold-water recreational fishing days are predicted to decline, estimating a loss of \$1.7–3.1 billion per year (NCA4, Ch. 7). For the lucrative downhill and cross-country ski season, projections show a decline by 20–60 percent under RCP4.5 (NCA4, Ch. 7). As such, partnerships between public and private sectors will be critical to fully implement climate adaptation measures and to fully account for changing local conditions and climate trajectories.

Making adaptation relevant

According to some estimates, by 2050, up to 5 billion people may be at risk from diminishing ecosystem services across the planet (Chaplin-Kramer et al. 2019). However, the magnitude of these impacts will largely be determined by the adaptive capacity of human communities' response to these impacts (NCA4, Ch. 7). In other words, these impacts can be buffered through adaptation strategies, but it will take the decision-making capacity, determination, and collaboration of local, state, federal, and tribal agencies and organizations to ensure these strategies are implemented. Therefore, improved communication on the importance of ecosystem services to diverse constituents will help advance conservation objectives, recognizing that some ecosystem services may be prioritized differently community to community. Regionally implemented adaptation strategies should reflect observed or projected impacts, as well as locally determined priorities. In short, collaboration between agencies and local and regional communities can help to ensure that ecosystem services and processes are appropriately provided.

The 2019 global assessment by the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) emphasized the urgent need to focus on ecosystem services (which they call "Nature's Contributions to People") through global, transformational change. Part of this change requires determining where and how ecosystem services matter most to people. Complementary to this is the need to explicitly integrate environmental justice into the planning and implementation of adaptation strategies for ecosystem services. Vulnerable communities and those bearing the brunt of climate impacts, ranging from Tribal territories to neglected urban neighborhoods, will significantly bear the brunt of climate change in many ways, including impacts to critical ecosystem services. By prioritizing adaptation strategies that can serve marginalized communities in particular, the conservation community can serve these communities while also broadly ensuring continuity of ecosystem services, such as clean air, fresh water, and productive soils, across the United States. This necessitates the acknowledgement of the interdependencies between people and nature, which renders communication and outreach activities more effective.

Including Indigenous Knowledges (IKs) in Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Planning and Actions

Contributing Authors: Nikki Cooley, Karen Cozzetto, Dara Marks-Marino, Rachael Novak, Robert Newman

One of the major gaps in the Strategy was that it did not include any discussion of Indigenous Knowledges and the importance of incorporating this critical body of knowledge into planning and implementation actions related to climate adaptation efforts. To rectify this oversight, we include this section, diving into much greater detail than other sections in Part I in order to provide the space and time necessary to understand this important piece in the adaptation puzzle.

Fish, wildlife, and plants hold a profound place in the lives of many Native Americans. Such species may be important for spirituality, sustenance, commercial enterprises, culture, and identity. They are in ceremonies that are held, stories that are told, songs that are sung, and celebrations that bring communities together throughout the year. Species may not be viewed simply as resources but as relatives, elders, equal partners, and sacred beings to be honored and respected and who have inherent rights. They may act as teachers, messengers, and powerful spiritual guides. Native peoples may consider species and ecosystem health to be inextricably linked to their own health and may consider themselves to be accountable to future generations of both their human and non-human relatives.

"Each of the Tribes on the Reservation is culturally unique and has its own belief system, yet all three are similar in at least two fundamental ways. The first is that each holds knowledge of the natural environment. The second is that each has a profound respect for all of creation. Both of these traits have enabled the Tribes to survive for thousands of years....The Tribes believe everything in nature is embodied with a spirit. The spirits are woven tightly together to form a sacred whole (the Earth). Changes, even subtle changes that affect one part of this web affect other parts...." -*Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes of the Flathead Reservation Climate Change Strategic Plan 2013* Tribes maintain vast and complex bodies of knowledge about fish, wildlife, and plants and their relationships with one another, with us, and with the climate, weather, and ecosystems where we all live. These knowledges are not static but change and evolve with each generation. sometimes adopting modern technology along the way. Below, we discuss different definitions of Indigenous Knowledges (IKs; Section 1), how they can inform climate change adaptation planning, research, and implementation (Section 2), methods for gathering IKs (Section 3), and the protection of IKs (Section 4).

IKs can teach us many things and remind us of more. During this time when the climate is changing so rapidly, perhaps some of the most important wisdom to be gathered is that everything is interconnected and it is up to us to take care of the Earth and all the species therein who take care of us.

What are Indigenous Knowledges?

IKs are known by many names (e.g., Traditional Knowledges, Native Science, and Traditional Ecological Knowledges or "TEKs"), which in brief refer to "Indigenous Peoples' systems of observing, monitoring, researching, recording, communicating, and learning that are required... to support survival and flourishing in an ecosystem and the social and adaptive capacity to adjust or prepare for changes" (USGCRP 2018). Additional definitions emphasize the temporal, relational, and holistic aspects of IKs in that they are an accumulation of knowledge, practice, and belief acquired by Indigenous peoples over hundreds or thousands of years, and relate to relationships between living beings in specific ecosystems over many generations—or as many Indigenous communities say, since "time immemorial" (NPS 2020). Evincing this relational aspect of the environment as living relatives is some tribes' motions to formally extend rights to nature.

The Yurok Tribe passed a resolution in 2019 that the Klamath River has the rights of personhood and the White Earth Band of Ojibwe adopted the Rights of Manoomin, or wild rice, which is both a traditional food central to Ojibwe culture and a relative.

Because of the deep knowledge of the environment engendered within IKs, these systems of knowledge can inform our understanding of how the climate is changing and strategies to adapt to climate change impacts. One example is the Yurok Tribe of Northern California, awarded the United Nation's Equator Prize in September 2019 for its climate change adaptation work that merges IKs with Western science to restore healthy forests that are resilient to climate change.

How IKs can inform climate change adaptation planning, research, and actions

Consulting with and contemplating the wisdom of elders and community members, both human and non-human, has long been valued in Indigenous communities. Consideration of these IKs is often taken as an initial step whenever trying to address a particular question or issue. IKs were not included in the original National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy published in 2012. However, recognition of the vital role that IKs can play in climate change adaptation and resilience planning and action has been increasing in Western scientific and political arenas. Here we present some examples of how IKs can inform how we can be good observers, learners, stewards, and relatives to all our relations in the natural world.

Identifying priority planning areas

When engaging in climate change planning, tribes and their community members may struggle with the task of selecting species or ecosystems on which to focus, given that many view all species as important and value the interconnectedness of all beings. Choosing species for planning may seem to be setting up an artificial hierarchy in which one species is more important than another. Given limited time and resources, however, tribes and their non-tribal partners may need to choose which species, habitats, and ecosystems to include in their planning efforts or may have to start off with some species and add others in later. A plan may address the difficulty in choosing by acknowledging within the plan the significance of all beings.

IKs are sometimes used to assist with selecting which species, habitats, and ecosystems on which to focus by pointing out species that are important spiritually, culturally, medicinally, and/or for food sovereignty. They may indicate species that have not been included by Western scientists and managers in their work and, thus, have been left out of Western research and management goals. IKs can also help to identify species that may play keystone roles in ecosystems and/or that are already being considerably impacted by climatic as well as non-climatic factors.

The Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission vulnerability assessment used interviews with IK holders to identify 60 beings/species of concern as the focus of their vulnerability assessment. These beings included amphibians, birds, fish, insects, mammals, reptiles, and a variety of plants, including species such as Labrador tea that may not often be the focus of much climate change research. In a project entitled *Utilizing Yurok Traditional Ecological Knowledge to Inform Climate Change Priorities*, the Yurok Tribe also conducted a series of interviews with

elders in which species of concern were identified, and they discussed species, such as candlefish and starry flounder, that were no longer found in the local ecosystem. These interviews also identified areas of study that could be the focus of climate change research (see research section below).

Understanding climate change

Indigenous peoples have been hunting, fishing, gathering, farming, ranching, and living in the same locations for generations and have shared lifetimes of accumulated observations and intimate knowledges of places and times. They know whether temperatures are rising, hurricanes are occurring more frequently, timing of migrations and blooming are shifting, and species are moving in or moving out. This local-scale expertise can contribute greatly to our understanding of baseline climate and ecosystem conditions, of how the climate is changing, and how species, habitats, ecosystems, and tribal communities are being affected (Nabhan 2010, Vinyeta and Lynn 2013). IKs also effectively comprise the basis for continued long-term community-based monitoring of and adaptation for ecosystem and community health (Riedlinger and Berkes 2001, Vinyeta and Lynn 2013).

The Local Environmental Observer (LEO) Network

The LEO Network was created in 2012 by the Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium (ANTHC) as an online tool for sharing observations about unusual species sightings and environment or weather events in order to help ANTHC's Center for Climate and Health better understand connections between climate change and environmental and health impacts, in particular in the rapidly changing Arctic. Since then, the LEO Network has expanded to include the LEO App and is being used not only by local and Indigenous knowledge holders in the Arctic but all over the world. Now anyone can stay informed about local changes and impacts. Those who are interested can record observations (this person is called an Observer and typically has longer-term familiarity with a particular place). Once submitted, each observation is reviewed by an Editor and, if selected, the observation is posted to the LEO Map for viewing by the network membership. An Editor may also refer an observation to a Consultant (a topic expert) for further input. Once published, there is open access to observed changes in the environment that are publicly available and expertly reviewed. For participants in Alaska, ANTHC hosts a monthly webinar to review and discuss recent observations and to provide a forum for experts to present on emerging issues. Topics have included clam populations, berries, harmful algal blooms, river and sea ice, wildfire smoke, and flooding and erosion along Alaska's ocean and river coasts.

Climate change and caribou

The Wildlife Management Advisory Council for the Yukon North Slope in Canada works "to conserve and protect wildlife, habitat and traditional Inuvialuit use within the Yukon North Slope" (WMACNS 2019). The Council would like to increase the incorporation of IKs into its Wildlife Conservation and Management Plan update. To this end, they conducted interviews with local residents about changes in the distribution and habitat for various species including caribou (Tyson and Heinemeyer 2017). Interviewees noted changes to caribou migration patterns and
concerns about how slumping and coastal erosion might contribute to loss of forage and general travel areas. Individual interviewees also noted how increasing precipitation and faster snowmelt were making river crossings more difficult, how freeze/thaw events were making lichen, a key winter caribou food, less accessible due to icing, and how summer insect harassment was increasing. Such observations will inform the management plan.

Understanding species and ecosystem vulnerabilities and resiliencies to climate change

IKs include observations of relationships among species, holistic understandings of what healthy ecosystems look like, and the interconnectedness of the animate and inanimate worlds. Such knowledges can help us better understand the potential vulnerabilities or resiliencies of species and ecosystems to climate change.

Prairies and salmon

During the Yurok Tribe climate change adaptation planning process for water and aquatic resources, elders and community members of the Yurok Tribe spoke of how they remembered prairies being an integral part of the forested ecosystem. The prairies support elk herds (a subsistence food source), smaller mammals, birds, and other species important to Yurok such as edible bulbs and medicines. They also absorb and store winter rains that can be released to streams during later summer low flow periods. One community member spoke of the correlation between big elk herds in prairies and big fish. Logging, the suppression of cultural burning, and fire suppression in general has changed that, with logging companies systematically planting prairie land with marketable timber and suppressing fire, which allows trees to encroach into the prairies (Cozzetto et al. 2018). According to various estimates, 85–95 percent of the prairies in the Yurok ancestral territory have been lost. Some studies suggest that, in some forested ecosystems, prairies might help increase groundwater recharge because evaporation of water captured on grasses tends to be low while conifers evaporate the water captured on their needles throughout the year (Farley et al. 2005, Nisbet 2005, Aranda et al. 2012, UK Forestry Commission 2017). The loss of prairies and the cool groundwater recharge they provide to streams may increase the vulnerability of cold-water fish like salmon to warming waters due to climate change.

Revitalizing traditional resource management techniques and innovating new ones in order to adapt to a changing climate

Revitalizing traditional resource management techniques that have been used in the past can help increase the resilience of both ecosystems and people in the face of climate change. Examples of such techniques include breadfruit agroforestry, clam gardens, and cultural burning.

Breadfruit agroforestry

Breadfruit is a tree that has long been cultivated by Native Pacific Islanders, traditionally being grown in forests in combination with other crops such as taro, banana, sugarcane, and medicinal plants (Elevitch and Ragone 2018). The starchy breadfruit, which can be prepared similar to potatoes, is highly nutritional, gluten-free, and has a moderate glycemic index. The Olohana Foundation has been working to revitalize breadfruit agroforestry in Indigenous and other

communities in Hawaii and the Pacific Islands as a way to address the challenges of food security and climate change (OF 2016). Agroforests have been shown to be more resilient to climate extremes and to pests and diseases (Elevitch and Ragone 2018). In addition, in contrast to monocultural production, agroforests have the potential to provide diverse wildlife habitat.

Clam gardens

The biomass of some clam species is declining in the Salish Sea along parts of the Washington and British Columbia coasts. Researchers think the decline may be due to factors such as disease, changing oceanographic processes, and climate change (Wall 2018, Barber et al. 2019). In order to boost clam productivity, the Swinomish Indian Tribal Community in Washington, along with some First Nations in Canada, are returning to a technique used by their ancestors—clam gardens (Lepofsky and Caldwell 2013, Groesbeck et al. 2014, Wall 2018). Clam gardens involve constructing low-lying rock wall terraces below mean low-tide lines (Groesbeck et al. 2014, Wall 2018). Such walls have been shown to enhance clam productivity, likely by expanding the intertidal habitat that clams prefer (Groesbeck et al. 2014).

Cultural burns

Many Native American tribes in the Southwest traditionally burned their lands on a regular basis as part of their cultural, spiritual, and resource management practices (Gonzalez et al. 2018). Burning ensured that sources of basket weaving and medicinal plants were available and rejuvenated grasses consumed by large game like elk and deer. In addition, burning helped keep tree pests at bay so that important foods such as acorns were in supply. For example, some tribes interrupted the life cycles of pests such as filbert weevils and filbert worms by burning the duff and insect-infested acorns under black oak trees during the fall and early winter (Long et al. 2016). Furthermore, by reducing the growth of brush and the associated brush water consumption, burning can contribute to increased water yields. Cultural burning practices were suppressed in the 20th century, and their revitalization could yield important adaptation benefits under changing climatic conditions.

IKs can also be used to reimagine conventional management techniques such as was done in the example below.

IKs and fish hatcheries

In contrast to conventional fish hatcheries that focus on increasing fish production, the goal of the Nez Perce Tribal Hatchery is to restore naturally reproducing salmon populations (NPT DFRM 2019). To do this, the tribe is treating salmon with respect and is using their IKs to "think like a salmon" about their needs (Colombi and Smith 2014). Instead of using strictly captive broodstock, the tribe has introduced wild fish as broodstock. The hatchery has also replaced straight concrete rearing structures with more natural rearing ponds designed to mimic healthy riparian areas so that hatchery-reared fish have the opportunity to learn to behave like wild fish. In these ways, managers can reduce the genetic effects of captivity in which fish adapt to artificial hatchery conditions, making them less successful in the wild, and instead managers can help preserve the

genetic integrity of the fish populations that they are trying to restore in the face of climate change (Colombi and Smith 2004, NPT DFRM 2019).

Identifying research questions

Careful observations can also lead to the identification of areas in which more research could help clarify impacts and relationships between different factors. Tribes have unique perspectives on the kinds of research questions that may be important for them in their lives. For example, in the Yurok Tribe project, *Utilizing Yurok Traditional Ecological Knowledge to Inform Climate Change Priorities,* a number of potential areas for study were identified through conducting a series of interviews with elders and community members. During these interviews, some respondents noted how they had observed declines in the amount of fog in the region and were wondering how this might affect coastal redwood trees. Others were interested in the impacts of ocean changes on key cultural and subsistence fish species such as salmon that migrate between the oceans and rivers. They were also interested in how climate change might be affecting the occurrence of Sudden Oak Death, an exotic fungal disease that is impacting oaks and tanoaks and the acorns they produce, which are an important terrestrial food source (Sloan and Hostler 2014).

Integration of IKs with Western science and management

As these examples and considerations illustrate, researchers and managers are finding considerable value in combining IKs with knowledge from Western science to create a more comprehensive understanding and vision of species and ecosystems. Although IKs were not represented in the 2012 Strategy, many recent, major adaptation planning documents, such as the IPBES reports on Indigenous Knowledge of Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services and the NCA4 specifically include IKs (e.g., Baptiste et al. 2017, Jantarasami et al. 2018). One reason is simply to be more inclusive of cultural diversity and local values when working with Indigenous communities, but there is also growing recognition and acceptance in the mainstream scientific community of the substantial value that IKs add to adaptation efforts and scientific inquiry more broadly (e.g., Medin and Bang 2014, Black Elk 2016, Verma et al. 2016, Redvers 2019). The urgent need for climate adaptation and the response on the part of tribal nations has, perhaps, accelerated this awareness (Jantarasami et al. 2018, Panci et al. 2018).

Synergy between IKs and Western science emerges from valuable contributions such as the ones noted below that are usually not represented well or consistently in Western science:

(1) One of the most frequently cited values of IKs is **the long-standing relationships that Indigenous peoples have with places, land, and the non-human species that inhabit that land**. The deep insights into ecological functions and relations that underlie ecosystem processes are often already known to Indigenous societies because of their intimate connections to places and species (Black Elk 2016, Brooks et al. 2019). Even if the world has changed/is changing, local knowledges accumulated over many generations are what allow Indigenous peoples to be most sensitive to and aware of change (Alessa et al. 2016, Chisolm Hatfield et al. 2018, Panci et al 2018). Western science simply has not been collecting data or directly experiencing those places for very long, if at all, and tends to be biased toward what was observed when Europeans first arrived at a place, and even then, only about what they deemed noteworthy.

(2) IKs incorporate holistic views of systems, based on the recognition of the interconnected and interdependent relationships of the living and nonliving members of the natural world (Cajete 2000, Kimmerer 2013, Medin and Bang 2014). This view extends to humans, who are considered integral members of the natural community, and not separate or apart from nature. This has profound implications for how we think of other species and our relationships with them (e.g., not only how they serve human needs, but also the reciprocal consideration of our responsibility to them). Clearly, engagement and partnerships with Indigenous communities to solve local problems mandate broader perspectives than provided by Western science (Medin and Bang 2014, Coppock 2016, Johnson et al. 2016, Kendall et al. 2017), but those perspectives can also expand the vision applied to management goals and research priorities more broadly, independent of jurisdiction and place. The values and perspectives that emerge from IKs can transcend current cultural and societal boundaries.

(3) In addition to the vision of nature and the place of humans within it that permeate IKs, the emphasis on the interconnected nature of the world highlights the need for integrative, more inclusive, ecosystem-level approaches to problem-solving. Despite long-standing calls for "ecosystem management" (Grumbine 1994), and the earlier philosophy of thinkers such as Aldo Leopold and his "land ethic" (Leopold 1949), Western science and resource management often retain a strong theme of reductionism. This is most clearly seen in the tendency to focus narrowly on single components of what are inherently integrated systems. For example, singleIKs provide knowledge, values, and a more expansive and complete vision of ecosystems

IKs provide unique insights into ecological systems because of the long-standing relationships that Indigenous peoples have with places, land, and the non-human species that inhabit that land.

IKs expand our conceptualization of the value of nature and the place of humans because they are based on the recognition of the interconnected, interdependent, and reciprocal relationships among the living and nonliving members of the natural world.

IKs encourage us to think more comprehensively. taraetina management at the ecosystem, landscape, and watershed levels to support the integrity of ecosystems and the relationships within them. including the inanimate and animate / biotic and abiotic worlds.

IKs encourage us to think about a broader/different range of species.

species management has historically been the predominant focus in most Western fisheries/wildlife management, including many efforts at assessing climate change vulnerability, despite awareness that species do not exist in isolation and management of one has cascading effects that propagate throughout the entire system. Other, more holistic approaches, such as fire management in forests (Lake and Christianson 2019) and grasslands, come closer to fulfilling the promise of system-level management, even if sometimes targeted at specific species (e.g., Stephens et al. 2019 and references therein).

Moreover, historical management and research has focused heavily on a narrow range of species, typically on those that are seen as economically important resources or, since the passage of the Endangered Species Act, those that are already at risk. To the extent that multispecies management is undertaken, it is often limited to a small set of single species or narrowly defined groups such as waterfowl, migratory birds, or more recently, pollinators. This is a pragmatic approach in the face of limited effort and funding, but it leaves open the question of what we are ignoring. Native science reminds us at least to ask that question, if only because cultural values and knowledge may identify a wider or different range of species and ecosystem components and relationships (Kimmerer 2013). IKs may even be able to help fill some information gaps that are pervasive in federal and state wildlife management, such as State Wildlife Action Plans, which attempt to identify species of conservation concern, but which are weighted heavily to taxa that have been the historical focus of natural resource agencies. Species may be absent from those plans, and consequently not targets for research and funding, because of our ignorance of them.

Perhaps the most fundamental insight from IKs stem from the combination of points 2 and 3: the reciprocal relation of humans to the ecosystems we are part of, and the more inclusive view of species underlie the consistent theme in IKs that we must manage for the benefit of all species and the entire ecosystem, and not just for the benefit of humans. In contrast, Western science / management emphasizes the resource or service values of species and ecosystem processes to humans. This view is not wrong, it is simply incomplete.

IK Methods

IKs and Western science both use observation and experience to better understand the natural world. Many of the methods employed in work aligning IKs with Western science come from cultural anthropology. Literature reviews prepare a researcher with background information. Semi-directed interviews often use open-ended questions with community members. Focus groups can help with additional subject matter and identify experts. Participant observation requires extensive time in a community watching and learning and can help verify information learned from other methods. Linguistics can provide insights into how a culture views the natural world and existing relationships. Finally, mapping can be used alongside other methods to help identify important areas (e.g., sacred sites, gathering sites, crucial habitat, species migratory routes) (NPS 2017). It is important to acknowledge that there are some traditional IK methods that are not found in Western science methods, such as storytelling (Wilson et al. 2019).

Community participation is also viewed as a crucial overall component with varying levels: contractual, consultative, collaborative, collegial, and Indigenous (David-Chavez and Gavin 2018). These levels of community participation are contrasted by an extractive model, which is characterized by minimal engagement with communities holding IKs and less likely to benefit the communities or make findings accessible to them (David-Chavez and Gavin 2018). Some land management research has been undertaken as collaborative research for co-management in restoration with mutual goals that benefit the Indigenous communities and incorporate community values into management objectives. For example, the Western Klamath Restoration Partnership links resource objectives to community values in fire reintroduction for eco-cultural restoration (Harling and Tripp 2014).

Good practice in using these methods includes a knowledge of and respect for protocols of IK holders. An important aspect of IK is that the attitudes in approaching the world are inseparable from scientific inquiry (Whyte et al. 2015). An example that incorporates this approach to the natural world in a climate context is the <u>Tribal Adaptation Menu</u> or "TAM," released in 2019 (TAM Team 2019). TAM is a resource that incorporates traditional and tribal values into the existing workbook of the Northern Institute of Applied Climate Science (U.S. Forest Service) as well as other climate planning frameworks. It was a collaborative process with Anishinaabeg and Menominee peoples in the Midwest that included input from community members, language, cultural management techniques, cultural values, and priorities in climate change planning. The menu of adaptation actions from these tribal perspectives emphasizes the relationships between humans and non-humans that respects all of creation as interconnected relatives and provides the foundation for a sustainable and resilient way of life. The menu includes 14 strategies, 50+ approaches, and 100+ example tactics, as well as an overview with Guiding Principles on working with Indigenous peoples. The menu was designed to be adaptable to other Indigenous communities beyond Anishinaabeg and Menominee cultures.

Protecting Indigenous Knowledges

IKs long held in high regard by Indigenous peoples are becoming increasingly accepted and valued by Western scientists and managers. With this comes increased interest by non-tribal entities to work with tribes and incorporate these knowledges. While there could be much value in such collaborations, tribes have not always experienced such efforts as culturally sensitive, ethical, and mutually beneficial, and a variety of risks may be associated with sharing IKs.

Examples of potential risks associated with sharing IKs

IKs and places where they arise are inextricably linked with native cultures. Taking IKs out of their broader context could lead to their misinterpretation, misrepresentation, and/or misuse, and may be viewed by some tribes as a form of theft (Vinyeta and Lynn 2013).

Due to the gap that exists between U.S. intellectual property laws and the ways IKs are governed in the knowledge holders' communities, exploitation risks are prevalent. For example, dissemination of IKs without direct consent for that specific use is exploitation. Knowledge holders must be made aware of any and all potential uses of shared information. Furthermore, once information is published, it becomes part of the public domain, and could potentially be used by private corporations or others for profit or other purposes without benefitting the Indigenous community that provided the knowledge (Vinyeta and Lynn 2013). Even if the information is not published, it may be subject to Freedom of Information Act requests under which the public has the right to request access to federal agency records.

Finally, with the sharing of IKs comes a responsibility on the part of the people receiving the information that they will use the knowledge shared in a good and ethical way (Vinyeta and Lynn 2013). This necessitates trust on the part of the knowledge holder who is sharing the information and understanding on the part of the recipient of the culture, values, and context in which the information is being given. One potential solution is to ensure an MOU (Memorandum of Understanding) is agreed upon and signed.

Guidelines for Considering Traditional Knowledges in Climate Change Initiatives

The document, *Guidelines for Considering Traditional Knowledges in Climate Change Initiatives* (*Guidelines*) (CTKW 2014), is an in-depth resource of information for tribes, agencies, and organizations seeking to collaborate with tribes on the respectful inclusion and protection of IKs in climate initiatives. It also discusses the right of tribes to not share information if they do not wish to do so. The *Guidelines* were developed by the Climate and Traditional Knowledges Workgroup (CTKW) and were adopted for use by DOI agencies. Although it is unclear if the DOI-USGS has been adhering to the *Guidelines*, they have been downloaded and cited many times.

What follows is a brief summary of the ways in which agencies, researchers, and organizations must be mindful in order to ensure the protection of both IKs and knowledge holders. Integration of the *Guidelines* in the training of federal and state resource managers and others should be elevated to standard practice for all tribal/non-tribal partnerships. Workshops at regional and national scientific or management-focused conferences, conducted by tribal resource managers or their representatives, should be promoted to broaden awareness of these concerns, as well as how to address them. Lastly, tribes have discretionary power in choosing with whom and in what ways they partner.

It is important to recognize that each tribe and knowledge holder will have their own unique laws and regulations governing the custodianship of IKs and interactions between tribal and non-tribal entities, and this custodianship is governed collectively by the community's principles and values. This custodianship should not be viewed through the Western lens of property ownership, but it does indeed encompass rights and customs around the sharing of this knowledge. Tribal people, non-native staff, and those who are partnering with tribes all share in the onus and obligation of honoring the critical principles of *Cause No Harm* and *Free, Prior, and Informed Consent*.

To "**Cause No Harm**," seekers of IKs must recognize that there is an inherent risk of loss, decontextualization, or misappropriation of IKs, because IKs and native culture are inextricably

Resources

National Park Service Traditional Ecological Knowledge website <u>https://www.nps.gov/subjects/tek/</u> index.htm

Guidelines for Considering Traditional Knowledges in Climate Change Initiatives <u>https://climatetkw.wordpress.com</u> /guidelines/

Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission's Guidelines for Conducting TEK Interviews <u>http://www.glifwc.org/ClimateCha</u> <u>nge/GLIFWC%20TEK%20Intervi</u> <u>ew%20Guidelines.pdf</u>

Institute for Tribal Environmental Professionals' Traditional Knowledge webpages <u>http://www7.nau.edu/itep/main/tc</u> <u>c/Tribes/tdk_sguard</u>

Tribal Adaptation Menu including Guiding Principles for Interacting with Tribes <u>https://www.glifwc.org/ClimateCh</u> <u>ange/TribalAdaptationMenuV1.p</u> <u>df</u>

Tribal Climate Adaptation Guidebook <u>http://www.occri.net/projects/triba</u> I-climate-adaptation-guidebook/

University of Oregon's Tribal Climate Change Project Tribal Profiles some of which include Indigenous Knowledges <u>https://tribalclimate.uoregon.edu/t</u> <u>ribal-profiles/</u> linked (as stated in <u>Section 4</u>). Seekers of IKs have the responsibility to identify and avoid those risks. Under no circumstances should IKs be used at the expense of any system, person, or community. Above all, it must be ensured that the use of IKs ultimately results in benefits to all with harm to none.

"Free, Prior, and Informed Consent" is the principle agreed upon by the United Nations Declaration of Rights of Indigenous Peoples, which ensures the fundamental rights of Indigenous peoples when negotiating or entering into agreements. It means that any negotiation and agreement must have procedural fairness devoid of any coercion or intimidation from any agency (free); Indigenous peoples must be involved from the beginning (prior); and have the full costs, benefits, risks, and opportunities defined prior to the sharing of any IKs (informed). Declining to engage or share knowledge is not only a right, but also carries no legal implications that would detract from the fulfillment of trust obligations (consent). Recognizing this right to decline participation includes respecting the right of the knowledge holder to withdraw participation at any time during the collaborative process.

Examples of respectful inclusion of IKs

A list of over 100 examples of ways IKs are addressed in law, policy, and natural resource management is included in the Guidelines as Appendix 2. Included in that listing is the Swinomish Climate Change Initiative Climate Adaptation Action Plan (Swinomish 2010), which can serve as a model for tribes and others to follow in integrating tribally led IKs into how they manage lands and waters. The Swinomish Plan also suggests ways to effectively integrate IKs into climate change adaptation planning, including the concept of creating a tribal review board that functions as a mechanism for formal screening and approval of IKs and sources, in order to create pathways for both providing and protecting IKs. Also included in Appendix 2 of the Guidelines is a case study of the Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission, which

successfully chartered a pathway to effectively collaborate with a governmental agency, emphasizing equal partnership, respect for Indigenous values, and protection of IKs (Emery et al. 2014).

State of the Practice

Contributing Authors: Tracy Melvin, Maggie Ernest Johnson, Ted Weber

Since the Strategy's publication in 2012, the nascent field of climate adaptation has grown substantially. There are now thousands of practitioners all around the world working to advance adaptation in a variety of sectors. Nationally, the field now has dedicated conferences like the National Adaptation Forum and professional organizations like the American Society of Adaptation Professionals that are building a vast network of practitioners. This community of practice has led the way for the development of frameworks to guide the ideas, information, and principles of implementing adaptation plans and actions. Within the fish, wildlife, and plants community, there are several frameworks and guidance efforts that have been put forth to advance the practice. We will not review every framework available, but will highlight those that have become widely adopted in the field and those that are emerging as the next standard of adaptation practice.

Widely Adopted Guidance and Approaches

One of the most oft-cited adaptation approaches is *Climate-Smart Conservation: Putting Adaptation Principles into Practice* (Stein et al. 2014), a guide that addressed how practitioners and policy-makers can identify "good" climate adaptation and offered a structured process for putting it into practice. Most iconic from this guidebook is the Climate-Smart Conservation Cycle (Fig.12), which follows closely to an adaptive management scheme, but specifically created for the nexus of conservation and climate change. Through this approach, natural resource professionals can ensure that effective climate adaptation principles are embedded into their conservation plans and actions, all while acknowledging the uncertainty inherent in this decision-making through an adaptive management process.



Figure 12. Climate-smart conservation cycle. (from Stein et al. 2014)

Other key frameworks/guidance documents of note include Scanning the Conservation Horizon: A Guide to Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment (Glick et al. 2011), Responding to Climate Change in National Forests: A Guidebook for Developing Adaptation Options (Peterson et al. 2011), Forest Adaptation Resources: Climate Change Tools and Approaches for Land Managers (Swanston et al. 2012, 2016), and the Adaptation Planning Tool Kit (ITEP 2019). Scanning the Conservation Horizon provides a step-by-step process for conducting species vulnerability assessments, a critical step in choosing the most effective management interventions to safeguard species from climate change impacts. In Responding to Climate Change in National Forests, the authors recommend four overarching steps that managers should take to integrate adaptation into conservation actions. They summarize these steps as review, rank, resolve, and observe.

Forest Adaptation Resources: Climate Change Tools and Approaches for Land Managers, most recently updated in 2016, is a foundational document for the practice of climate adaptation in

forest management. Rather than a framework, it provides a selection of resources, strategies, tools, and case studies as a way to inform and support managers who wish to incorporate climate change considerations into management and implement adaptation tactics. Another foundational guide is the *Adaptation Planning Tool Kit* developed by the Institute for Tribal Environmental Professionals. The toolkit provides a collection of resources, examples, and templates to facilitate climate adaptation planning processes. It was uniquely designed for tribes and represents a widely adopted approach to climate adaptation planning.

New and Emerging Frameworks and Guidance

The Resist, Accept, Direct (RAD) framework (Thompson et al. 2020) is an emerging management climate-induced paradigm for ecosystem transformation. This suggests a holistic, active decision process, which describes managerial responses for ecosystems experiencing direct, transformative change by assigning the adaptation response to a managerial decision: resist, accept, or direct the change (also see Aplet and Cole 2010, Stein and Shaw 2013, Fisichelli et al. 2016, Aplet and McKinley 2017). A variety of management frameworks exist for responding to ecosystem change (e.g., Millar

Review, Rank, Resolve, Observe

Review - Become aware of basic climate change science and integrate that understanding with knowledge of local resources conditions and issues

Rank - Evaluate sensitivity of specific natural resources to climate change

Resolve - Develop and implement strategic and tactical options for adapting resources to climate change

Observe - Monitor the effectiveness of adaptation options and adjust management as needed

et al. 2007, Hobbs et al. 2009, Jackson and Hobbs 2009, Aplet and Cole 2010, Stephenson and Millar 2012, Stein et al. 2014, Truitt et al. 2015, Fisichelli et al. 2016). Some of these response frameworks combine active-management *responses* (i.e., "resistance") with *states*, *characteristics*, *or attributes* of the system (i.e., "resilience" and "transformation") (National Fish Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Partnership 2012). The mixing of actions in response to directional change and managerial responses may be confusing to managers attempting to select management options to respond to change. The RAD framework describes management responses appropriate under ecosystem transformation by squarely assigning the adaptation response to a managerial decision: resist, accept, or direct the change (Thompson et al. 2020).

Depending on the rate and direction of change, Thompson et al. (2020) suggest that either:

- 1. Ecosystem transformations can be resisted, wherein managers work to maintain existing ecosystem processes, function, and structure based upon historical conditions; or
- Ecosystem transformations can be accepted, perhaps because they cannot feasibly be stopped, they are not sufficiently impactful to warrant a response, they are considered acceptable (perhaps even desirable) by stakeholders or society, or there is a lack of will or impetus to resist change despite sufficient knowledge and resources; or
- 3. Ecosystem transformation can be directed toward a specific alternative ecosystem configuration because the already-observed change is so dramatic that resisting change is impossible and there is a feasible opportunity to steward change toward a more-desirable outcome.

The above strategies capture the range of responses by humans to address ecosystem change. Synonymous with how Magness et al. (2011) defined retrospective and prospective adaptation, resisting works against climate change by attempting to maintain historical conditions, and directed change works with climate-change trajectories by stewarding toward a future state (Thompson et al. 2020). Finally, accepting change should not always be considered a passive choice but rather explicit acceptance (Thompson et al. 2020).



Figure 13. Adaptation options used in the ASCC study represent a continuum of management goals (vertical gradient) and mechanisms for coping with climate change (horizontal gradient).

The Adaptive Silviculture for Climate Change (ASCC) project was designed in 2017 to respond to adaptation needs of North American forests by operationalizing climate adaptation strategies through providing a multi-region network of replicated operational-scale research sites. These sites test ecosystem-specific adaptation treatments both short and long term. The project conceptual tools introduces and processes to integrate climate change considerations into management and silvicultural decision making. The ASCC project draws heavily on tools created through a management-focused effort called the Climate Change Response Framework (Janowiak et al. 2014) but

couples the management tools with a rigorous scientific design. Adaptation options used in the ASCC study represent a continuum of management goals related to levels of desired (or tolerated) change in ecosystem attributes (represented by on the vertical gradient, see Fig. 13) and mechanisms for coping with climate change (the horizontal gradient, see Fig. 13). More information can be found at forestadaptation.org.

The Tribal Adaptation Guidebook (Dalton et al. 2018) was written in 2018 and follows a holistic approach to adaptation planning called "community-driven climate resilience planning." Community-driven climate resilience planning is "the process by which residents of vulnerable and impacted communities define for themselves the complex climate challenges they face and the climate solutions most relevant to their unique assets and threats. The guidebook contains a flexible system for addressing adaptation, as noted, because adaptation usually coincides with asynchronous funding opportunities. Many highlights include checklists, guiding questions, case studies of tribal examples illustrating a particular activity, and external resources providing greater context or more specific guidance on a particular aspect of adaptation planning. Throughout the guidebook are checkpoints, opportunities to sustain three ongoing themes:

Traditional Knowledges—considerations for including TKs throughout the adaptation planning process relying on the Guidelines for Considering Traditional Knowledges (TKs) in Climate Change Initiatives.

Community Engagement—opportunities and strategies to engage the tribal community in the adaptation planning process.

Documentation—opportunities to document the status of the adaptation planning process.

Finally, another emerging approach in adaptation is through climate refugia and corridors. Although habitat connectivity has long been identified as an adaptation strategy for fish and wildlife (Heller and Zavaleta 2009), most large-landscape conservation approaches have focused on static protected areas linked by corridors. As climate change impacts rapidly shift species locations, interactions, and behaviors, habitat connectivity must become more dynamic in response. Proper identification, protection, and management of refugia will be essential to protect biodiversity and ecosystem services in a changing climate. Refugia for a particular species should be connected to a species' current locations via corridors or a favorable landscape. Likewise, temporary climate refugia should be connected to future refugia to facilitate continued migration as conditions further change. Even temporary refugia may serve as vital stepping stones, and may subsequently provide habitat for other species that are more climate-tolerant. While there is growing recognition that climate-smart refugia and corridor planning are important, there is no comprehensive management framework or guidebook to date.

Moving Forward

Although we have not covered an exhaustive list of adaptation frameworks, emerging themes exist throughout. Namely, the shift in frameworks toward operationalizing prospective management practices (stewardship toward a future ecological state; see Magness et al. 2011). Prospective management practices will most likely begin emphasizing assemblage rather than single-species management, biome-level experimentation and management, and the eventual emphasis on operationalizing the social-ecological nature of climate adaptation. This leads emerging climate adaptation frameworks to increasingly find novel ways of addressing or acknowledging the multidimensions of uncertainty. Addressing uncertainty can include a range of

solutions, from recognizing and incorporating the role of multiple knowledge systems, as in the Tribal Climate Adaptation Guidebook, to specifically addressing ecological uncertainty through pilot studies and experimentation, as stated in the RAD framework and ASCC project. Scenario planning has emerged as an important approach in its own right to addressing and acknowledging uncertainty and is being utilized as a tool by managers (NPS 2013, Rowland et al. 2014, Runyon et al. 2020). It should be noted too that all of these approaches are essentially centered upon an adaptive management cycle, with major differences in the definition of the problem itself being the major driver of all consequent action.

As the state of the practice shifts toward more prospective and holistic frameworks, the natural resource community will need to also shift longstanding management paradigms. Agency authorities, mandates, and regulations may need to be viewed through the lens of future conditions rather than historical baselines, necessitating changes in policy to provide maximum flexibility for agency action. For example, the Endangered Species Act, the Nation's most powerful tool in the protection and recovery of threatened and endangered species, may need to evolve from an emphasis on single-species management to one focused on managing for healthy, functioning assemblages, whether those are novel or not. How those policies take shape in practice is yet to be seen, but will be an imperative step nonetheless to safeguarding fish, wildlife, and plants under a changing climate.

PART II

The goal of the Strategy was not to become a document that sits on a shelf or remains a saved, but unopened, PDF on the computer. Rather, the goal was to see the Strategy fully integrated and implemented at all levels and scales of conservation. Tracking implementation, however, remains a difficult task. Many conservation projects may provide ancillary adaptation benefits, but were not done intentionally to respond to climate change impacts, thus leaving these projects undocumented in the adaptation literature. Alternatively, some projects were completed specifically to respond to climate change. Past attempts have been made to track and highlight implementation progress, such as the *Taking Action Progress Report and the Next Steps: A Report on Implementation* (National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Joint Implementation Working Group 2014, 2015).

The Strategy provided seven goals critical to ensuring a comprehensive and coordinated approach to climate change impacts. Goals were meant to represent tools within the conservation toolbox. Alongside each goal were strategies and actions that could be initiated over the next five to ten years. In addition, each goal has checklists to chart milestones. For the purposes of Part II, only these high-level goals were cross-walked with a variety of conservation plans.

The National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy Goals

- **Goal 1:** Conserve habitat to support healthy fish, wildlife, and plant populations and ecosystem functions in a changing climate.
- **Goal 2:** Manage species and habitat to protect ecosystem functions and provide sustainable cultural, subsistence, recreational, and commercial use in a changing climate.
- Goal 3: Enhance management capacity in a changing climate.
- **Goal 4:** Support adaptive management in a changing climate through integrated observation and monitoring and use of decision support tools.
- **Goal 5:** Increase knowledge and information on impacts and responses of fish, wildlife, and plants to a changing climate.
- **Goal 6:** Increase awareness and motivate action to safeguard fish, wildlife, and plants in a changing climate.
- **Goal 7:** Reduce non-climate stressors to help fish, wildlife, plants, and ecosystems adapt to a changing climate.

Given the limitations inherent in tracking progress, Part II crosswalks the Strategy goals with various conservation plans made at federal, state, tribal, and nonprofit levels. This review is not meant to confirm or deny Strategy implementation, but to give an idea of how the Strategy goals

appear in planning documents, identify if the Strategy is a document called out in these plans, and generally assess the level to which climate adaptation is integrated throughout these plans. We recommend a more thorough analysis be taken to ensure broad trends of Strategy implementation are captured effectively. In place of a deeper analysis, this crosswalk serves to illustrate a sampling of ways in which Strategy goals, whether intentional or not, have been implemented in a variety of conservation plans. Where not explicitly called out, it is impossible to say whether the Strategy had any impact on how or why the goals were incorporated. However, even if it does not confirm the Strategy's intentional use, these instances suggest the Strategy goals' usefulness in adaptation planning for fish and wildlife management more broadly.

									Strategy
Dian Nama	Castar	Coold	Cool 2	Cool 2			Cool C		explicitly called
	Sector	Goal 1	Goal 2	Goal 3	Goal 4	Goal 5	Goal 6	Goal 7	out?
Climate Science									
Strategy	Federal		~	~	~	~			\checkmark
NPS Climate Change									
Action Plan 2012-									
2014	Federal		\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
FWS Planning for									
Climate Change on									
the National Wildlife									
Refuge System	Federal	\checkmark							
Massachusetts State	Otata								
Vildiffe Action Plan	State	\sim							
Florida State Wildlife	State								
Muoming State	Sidle	×	×		×	`		×	
Wildlife Action Plan	State						~		
Tribal Climate	Claid	•	•		•	•	•	•	•
Adaptation Menu	Tribal	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	
Climate Change									
Vulnerability									
Assessment and									
Adaptation Plan: 1854									
Ceded Territory	Tribal	\checkmark							
Karuk Climate	- 11 1								
Adaptation Plan	Iribal	\checkmark							
LTA Conserving									
Nature in a Changing	Manager								
Climate	Nonprofit	\sim							
Connected									
Landscapes for									
Terrestrial									
Conservation	Nonprofit	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	
WCS Climate									
Adaptation Fund	Nonprofit	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	

Example Federal Plans

NOAA Fisheries Climate Science Strategy

Plan reviewers: Madeleine Rubenstein, Roger Griffis

The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) National Marine Fisheries Service (Fisheries) Climate Science Strategy (NCSS; Link et al. 2015) describes the climate-related information needs required to support the NOAA Fisheries mandate of sustaining living marine resources. In addition, the Strategy outlines efforts to increase the production and delivery of relevant climate-related information, and to design adaptive decision processes to support adaptive management.

Climate change poses significant threats to marine ecosystems, living marine resources, and the human communities that depend on them. The NCSS lays out a strategy for increasing the climate-informed scientific research needed to support effective, adaptive management of living marine resources in a changing climate. To this end, there are significant overlaps with the NFWPCAS, particularly in the areas of science and information gathering.

NPS Climate Change Action Plan 2012–2014

Plan reviewers: Madeleine Rubenstein, Michael Langston

The National Park Service (NPS) Climate Change Action Plan (NPS 2012) describes the contribution of NPS at local, regional, and national levels to climate change adaptation. This plan covers potential actions parks can take to respond to and prepare for climate change, including actions focused on high-priority managed resources as well as operations/logistics.

National Parks are facing urgent and significant changes as a result of climate change. Through a combination of policy planning, monitoring, research, and communication, NPS is seeking to prepare the Park System for these changes. NPS is placing an emphasis on conducting scientific research, as well as communicating climate change science and adaptation practice to the NPS internal workforce as well as the general public.

FWS Planning for Climate Change on the National Wildlife Refuge System

Plan reviewer: Maggie Ernest Johnson

The purpose of *Planning for Climate Change on the National Wildlife Refuge System* (Plan) (Czech et al. 2014) is to help Refuge planners and managers fulfill DOI and FWS mandates to incorporate climate change considerations into planning documents. In addition to providing background information on climate change and the anticipated ecological effects from climate change, the Plan lays out how each Refuge should incorporate these concepts in their own

Comprehensive Conservation Plan (CCP), which guides on-the-ground management of refuge activities. CCPs are revised every 15 years unless significant new information becomes available or ecological conditions change. Annual review processes identify whether these revisions are necessary.

The Strategy is specifically called out as part of the basis for the Plan and is included in the resources section for more information. All the goals of the Strategy are integrated into the Plan in some way. There is a large focus on landscape conservation designs, which is most complementary to Goals 1 and 2 (manage and connect habitats, manage species and habitats). The Plan suggests integrating climate modeling and vulnerability assessments as part of the analysis to understand future landscape-level conditions. It also stresses the need to plan for novel communities by mixing retrospective (historical baselines) and prospective (future baselines) adaptation philosophies, which is in line with emerging frameworks, such as Resist, Accept, Direct, as discussed in Part I.

Beyond the ecological implications of climate change impacts on the National Wildlife Refuge System, the Plan also addresses the social, economic, and cultural issues that are affected by climate change. These include public uses, transportation, cultural resources, education and outreach, tribal affairs, land acquisition, and oil, gas, and other energy infrastructure.

Example State Plans

Florida State Wildlife Action Plan

Plan reviewer: Maggie Ernest Johnson

Florida is among the most vulnerable states to climate change impacts, primarily due to a combination of increasing ocean temperatures, sea level rise, extreme weather events, low elevation, and heavy coastal human development. As wildlife begins to move, tracking to more suitable habitats and following shifting vegetative communities, species will likely encounter existing ecological threats, such as extensive human development, which will exacerbate strain on species of greatest conservation need.

In the original 2005 State Wildlife Action Plan (SWAP), climate change was mentioned but a thorough review and integration was not included. In 2012, the SWAP revision dedicated a full chapter to climate change, providing additional information and results from several climate change–focused projects including a vulnerability assessment and scenario planning project. The most recent revision (FWC 2019), however, integrated climate change fully throughout and it is reflected in the actions outlined for management. Climate change is identified as a threat and actions are specified for managing particular habitat types, as well as for Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN). Actions in support of habitats threatened by climate change impacts

emphasize Goals 1 and 2 whereas actions in support of SGCN threatened by climate change impacts refer to Goals 4 and 5. Most noteworthy, however, is the *Guide to Climate Change Adaptation for Florida* (FWC 2016), which catalogues, in detail, the impacts of climate change and provides a framework for managers to identify adaptation strategies for habitats and species. The *Guide* is a complementary document to the SWAP and lays the critical foundation for the integration of climate adaptation into fish and wildlife management in the state. Additionally, a web-based <u>Climate Adaptation Explorer</u> was developed in 2019 based on and adapted from the *Guide*. This version works to increase awareness and implementation of the SWAP as it relates to climate adaptation.

Massachusetts State Wildlife Action Plan

Plan reviewer: Maggie Ernest Johnson

Massachusetts has made strides toward intentionally integrating climate change and adaptation into its State Wildlife Action Plan (Massachusetts Division of Fisheries and Wildlife 2015). Influenced by a statewide climate change vulnerability assessment (Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs 2011), the 2015 plan revision utilizes a framework to better consider climate change impacts and adaptation actions, including a dedicated chapter on climate change. All the Strategy goals appear in some way throughout the plan, with the greatest emphasis on Goals 1 and 2 (conserve and connect habitat, and manage species and habitat, respectively), although the Strategy is never actually referenced.

Interestingly, of the 308 species that were added to the SGCN list in 2015 (making a total of 570 SGCN), only two species identified impacts from climate change as part of the rationale behind their listing: the northern flying squirrel and the eastern pearlshell. A larger effort was made in 2016 to catalogue SGCN vulnerable to climate change, in which 163 species were identified (Galbraith and Morelli 2017). This information will be incorporated into the SWAP revision planned for 2025. However, climate change was referenced in the 2015 revision for every habitat identified in the SWAP due to a framework that employed the IUCN Threat Classification Scheme for assessment (Threat 11 deals with climate change and extreme weather events). This perhaps demonstrates Massachusetts's larger approach to conservation through the lens of landscapes. In fact, the Northeast leads the country in collaboration around Regional SGCN and has employed regional landscape frameworks to do so, often with an emphasis on climate change and adaptation. Many of the examples cited in the Massachusetts SWAP are not restricted only to statewide initiatives, but often cross boundaries at landscape or regional scales, acknowledging that climate change will not stop at borders and that collaboration between states will be imperative to responding to impacts.

Wyoming State Wildlife Action Plan

Plan reviewer: Robert Newman

The Wyoming Game & Fish Department (2017) emphasizes that the greatest risk to wildlife conservation in the state comes from anticipated losses of suitable wildlife habitat because of increasing human population and demands on natural resources. The current Wyoming State Wildlife Action Plan, published in 2017, builds on the previous 2010 version, beginning by identifying "significant concerns" connected to habitat loss and degradation coming from five "Leading Conservation Challenges." These include rural subdivision and development, energy development, invasive species, climate change, and disruption of historical disturbance regimes. After pointing to anticipated habitat loss and degradation in the Introduction, much of the SWAP focuses on habitat and habitat management, which is also the case in the 2012 Strategy. Recommended conservation actions emphasize maintaining or enhancing wildlife value. whatever the land use, from range management to energy development to rural subdivision/development. The plan also notes the need for landscape-scale and multijurisdictional planning and management to counter habitat loss and fragmentation and mitigate competing stakeholder interests. Climate change adaptation plays out in this framework, with consideration for future conditions. Many of the recommendations reflect how the state approaches drought resilience in both terrestrial and aquatic systems, because the greatest risks expected with climate warming arise from altered precipitation patterns.

Example Tribal Plans

Karuk Climate Adaptation Plan

Plan reviewer: Rob Croll

The Karuk Tribe has lived in the Klamath-Siskiyou Mountains in the mid-Klamath River region of what is currently known as northern California since time immemorial. While federally recognized, the Karuk do not have a legally designated reservation. The Karuk claim an aboriginal territory of approximately 1.38 million acres centering on the confluence of Masúhsav (Salmon River) and Ishkêesh (Klamath River). The Karuk describe themselves as a "fix the world people," performing ceremonies that restore balance and renew the world. The 2019 Karuk Climate Adaptation Plan, in keeping with this vision, is focused on fire, attention to restoring human responsibilities to species and ecosystem processes, and traditional ecological knowledge (TEK) with a parallel emphasis on collaboration, public education, and policy advocacy. Because the tribe does not have direct control over its aboriginal territory, collaboration with partners, primarily the USDA Forest Service, is key to restoring traditional Karuk tribal management and implementing the goals of the Adaptation Plan.

The Karuk Climate Adaptation Plan (Karuk Tribe 2019) recognizes uncontrolled wildland fire and high river temperatures and their impact on salmon as two very significant climate change impacts in Karuk aboriginal territory, and specifically calls out existing fire suppression policies and existing dams as exacerbating these impacts. The plan proposes to use a return to traditional Karuk fire management regimes to return the fire-prone landscape to a less fueled state, to maintain and restore degraded terrestrial and aquatic habitat, and to promote the growth and expansion of traditional wild food sources. Adaptation actions discussed in the plan utilize a combination of Western science and Karuk TEK and center on the restoration of cultural indicators (culturally significant animal and plant beings) as cues for human responsibility and action.

Tribal Climate Adaptation Menu

Plan reviewer: Dara Marks Marino

The Tribal Climate Adaptation Menu (Tribal Adaptation Menu Team 2019) "provides a framework to integrate indigenous and traditional knowledge, culture, language and history into the climate adaptation planning process." It is "designed to work with the Northern Institute of Applied Climate Science (NIACS) Adaptation Workbook, and as a stand-alone resource." The Menu was "primarily developed for the use of indigenous communities, tribal natural resource agencies and their nonindigenous partners," but "may be useful for bridging communication barriers for non-tribal persons or organizations interested in indigenous approaches to climate adaptation and the needs and values of tribal communities." The Menu contains 14 Strategies and Approaches, and is intended to provide an Anishinaabeg and Menominee perspective through which to view the natural environment. Specifically, this Menu is intended to fill the gap in adaptation planning of how to include the "unique needs, values, and cultures of tribes and tribal practitioners." "Even though this Tribal Climate Adaptation Menu is primarily designed to focus on natural resource management decisions, it includes Strategies that are focused on relationships with other beings, the land, and the community. These concepts are deliberately presented first in the Tribal Climate Adaptation Menu [Strategies 1-3] to emphasize the importance of considering these relationships first and foremost."

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment and Adaptation Plan: 1854 Ceded Territory Including the Bois Forte, Fond du Lac and Grand Portage Reservations

Plan reviewers: Rob Croll and Nikki Cooley

Through this project, the <u>Bois Forte Band</u>, <u>Fond du Lac Band</u>, <u>Grand Portage Band</u>, and <u>1854</u> <u>Treaty Authority</u> partnered with <u>Adaptation International</u> and the <u>Great Lakes Integrated Sciences</u> <u>and Assessment Center</u> at the University of Michigan. The purpose of the project was to investigate how changing climate conditions already are affecting, and could continue to affect, the landscape and species within the 1854 Ceded Territory and the respective reservations. In addition to assessing changes, the partners also identified climate-related vulnerabilities and identified actions that could be taken to create more climate resilient systems. This three-part project used dynamically downscaled climate modeling to assess climate trends in Northern Minnesota, followed by a vulnerability assessment process focusing on sensitivity and adaptive capacity for culturally important plant and animal beings along with air and water quality and wetlands. The adaptation plan consists of over 200 strategies focused into several categories including collaboration, conservation, education, and monitoring and assessment. As noted in reviews of other tribal plans, while the partners are able to implement the adaptation plan directly on their individual reservations, in the 1854 Ceded Territory the tribes, and the 1854 Treaty Authority, have to collaborate with a number of co-management partners including the federal and Minnesota state governments.

Project Name: US 93 wildlife crossing through the Flathead Indian Reservation in western Montana

Contributing author: Whisper Camel-Means

Driving through the Flathead Indian Reservation in western Montana, especially between dusk and dawn, can lead to you colliding with a wild animal. Imagine a landscape, reserved for the Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes (CSKT; Salish, Qlispe, and Kootenai Tribes) after the 1855 Hellgate Treaty, which includes the high forested Mission Mountains to the east, a broad valley, and lower forested mountains to the south and west. The southern half of the glacially formed Flathead Lake, the largest natural freshwater lake by surface area west of the Missouri River, is fully encompassed by the reservation and empties into the lower Flathead River. Numerous high mountain lakes flow into the lower valleys meeting up with a pingo pothole wetland complex, some of which are now protected wildlife conservation lands managed by federal, state, and tribal government agencies. The protections are for good reason, as this diverse landscape is home to a biologically diverse cast of wildlife. Grizzly bears, mountain lions, lynx, wolverine, bobcat, elk, moose, bighorn sheep, mountain goat, white-tailed and mule deer, trumpeter swans, golden and bald eagles, a variety of owls and hawks, various migratory songbirds and waterfowl, various small and medium sized mammals, amphibians, and reptiles. The CSKT manages wildlife occurring within the boundaries of the Reservation with their own professional wildlife and fisheries staff and conservation officers.



Figure 14. A wildlife overpass constructed on US Highway 93 in Montana. (Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes)

The broad valley that makes up the heart of the Flathead Reservation is bisected by a heavily traveled transportation artery, US Highway 93. The annual average daily traffic totals for this highway range from 7,000 to 15,000 vehicles (MDT 2020). Recreational opportunities (Flathead Lake and Glacier National Park) north of Interstate 90, freight, and daily commuters make up a travel characteristic that is heavily used in the summer but still guite busy year round. In the 1980s the Montana early Department of Transportation

recognized the need to improve the highway, increasing capacity and making it safer for the traveling public. The CSKT were not convinced a highway improvement that accommodated an increase in vehicle capacity was in the best interest of the Tribal people. The daily existence of the Tribal people is tied to the natural resources. The abundant wildlife provide for subsistence, cultural, and spiritual needs of the tribal membership. Individual tribal members hunt wild game to feed their families and collect berries and roots for cultural use and celebrations, as well as travel the highway that bisects the Reservation. Wildlife resources play a dual role, being considered both natural and cultural resources. Negations between tribal leaders, community members, as well as state and federal transportation agencies, led to a holistic highway design that premised the Spirit of Place. The road is a visitor, and it should respond to, and be respectful of, the land and spirit of the culture. The spirit of place is a continuum of all that is seen, touched, felt, and traveled through; it includes more than just the road and adjacent areas. It consists of the surrounding landscape, paths of waters, winds, plants, animals, and native people (Marshik et al. 2001).

As a result of this work and unique partnerships the US 93 reconstructed highway includes landscape connectivity in the form of wildlife crossing structures, wildlife fencing, and associated structures to keep wildlife and people safer as they move across the landscape (Fig. 14). The CSKT have worked to maintain and restore habitat connectivity across the Flathead Reservation and effectively across the region of western Montana. This is important for effects from long-term shifts in temperature caused by climate change. Wildlife species at risk may need to shift range or elevation; extended drought may change availability of water currently enjoyed by the massive wetland and water system, and increased severity of wildfires could occur across the Reservation and region of western Montana; or become displaced by people moving to this area as climate change migrants, and now pandemic refugees. Species that are unable to migrate to favorable habitats are unlikely to survive. Creating a permeable highway corridor can help wildlife species

to move long distances if needed. This is particularly important for climate resilience in the case of sensitive species such as the beaver or grizzly bear.

As time passes and western Montana or other rural areas across the United States grow as desirable locations for people to move and travel to, region-wide connectivity will become more critical, and highway permeability through appropriately sized crossing structures and fencing could mean the difference between having wildlife or not, or traveling safely or hitting wildlife.

Example Nonprofit Plans

Conserving Nature in a Changing Climate: A Three Part Guide for Land Trusts in the Northeast

Plan reviewer: Aimee Delach

Conserving Nature in a Changing Climate: A Three Part Guide for Land Trusts in the Northeast (OSI and NALCC 2018; available at https://climatechange.lta.org/resilience-guide/), advances the aims of the National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Conservation Strategy by enhancing the capacity of land trusts (National Strategy Goal 3) to identify and conserve lands to support biodiversity conservation in a changing climate (National Strategy Goal 1). The Guide provides knowledge and tools for incorporating climate resilience into conservation prioritization for terrestrial, aquatic, and coastal protection. Part One of the Guide introduces resilience concepts as they apply to land conservation priorities and explains the aspects of resilient networks, including physical diversity, connectedness, and biological condition, and how to recognize them on the landscape. Part Two of the Guide is a tutorial on how to use the North Atlantic LCC's Conservation Planning Atlas, hosted by Data Basin, to undertake identification of priority areas. Part Three describes how a regional partnership in northern Massachusetts used the tools to identify priorities for a strategic, climate-smart conservation plan.

The Nature Conservancy's Resilient and Connected Landscapes for Terrestrial Conservation

Plan reviewer: Tracy Melvin

The Nature Conservancy's (TNC) Resilient and Connected Landscapes for Terrestrial Conservation (Anderson et al. 2016) is a framework for strategic land conservation, restoration, and acquisitions based on climate factors for biodiversity conservation. It seeks to offset the expected alteration of species distributions, ecological processes, and environmental degradation associated with climate change by setting priorities that will conserve biological diversity and

maintain ecological functions despite climate-driven changes in community composition and species locations. All the goals of the Strategy are implicitly integrated into this conservation strategy in some way. There is a large focus on large landscape conservation that enhances function, which is most complementary to Goals 1 and 2 (manage and connect habitats, manage species and habitats). The Plan suggests integrating climate modeling and vulnerability assessments as part of the analysis to understand future landscape-level conditions.

A team of 60 scientists led by TNC identified places where natural resilience is highest. Resilience is defined here by a diversity of topography, bedrock, and soil; these climate-resilient sites are more likely to sustain native plants, animals, and natural processes into the future, becoming natural strongholds for diversity. To map their locations, The Nature Conservancy–led team used over 70 new and comprehensive datasets to find places that are buffered from the effects of climate change because the site offers a wide range of microclimates within a highly connected area. The results were published (see Anderson et al. 2014) and in 2016 the map was revised and expanded to cover 20 ecoregions. The resilience map identifies areas best able to support plants and animals in a changing climate, and represents the diversity of environments up and down eastern North America. The analysis complements other conservation tools that assess species and habitats because this analysis focuses on the properties of the land itself.

This approach identifies potential conservation areas based on geophysical characteristics that influence a site's resilience to climate change in the northeastern United States. It focuses on five pillars to ensure that connections between and among sites are prioritized based on a changing climate. These pillars are:

- 1. Site resilience
- 2. Landscape permeability
- 3. Biodiversity
- 4. Resilient and connected conservation networks
- 5. Conservation strategies

WCS Climate Adaptation Fund 2020 Applicant Guidance Document

Plan reviewer: Ted Weber

The Wildlife Conservation Society's Climate Adaptation Fund ("Fund"; Wildlife Conservation Society 2020) provides grant awards to nonprofit conservation organizations (a little over \$2.6 million to 13 projects in 2019). Projects must be designed with climate adaptation as a core goal or outcome of the work; ground conservation goals and actions in the best available science; conduct on-the-ground implementation (not research or planning); focus on promoting ecosystem function, rather than conserving individual species; be designed for long-term conservation impact; create the potential for impact at a landscape scale; and use strategic communications activities to amplify outcomes. The Fund does not reference the Climate Adaptation Strategy, but addresses most of its goals. The exceptions are enhancing management capacity and increasing

climate impact knowledge, as the Fund is targeted toward "shovel-ready" projects. Other sources of funding would have to be sought for research, planning, or capacity building.

Project name: Climate Change Challenge: Rising Seas in Maryland (Grant award: \$250,000; year awarded: 2016)

Contributing author: Ted Weber

One of the Wildlife Conservation Society's adaptation grants went to Audubon Maryland-DC to save deteriorating tidal marsh at their Farm Creek Marsh preserve (see Fig. 14). As the sea level rises and salt water intrudes, coastal pine forest is dying off and being replaced by marsh vegetation. However, ground surface collapse at the preserve caused surface ponding, which has caused the marsh to deteriorate. Using the grant money, Audubon and its



Figure 14. A climate adaptation project in Maryland. (Audubon Maryland-DC)

partners at the U.S. Geological Survey, Maryland Department of Natural Resources, and the Conservation Fund excavated a series of channels that connected the deteriorating marsh to the nearest tidal creek. The hope was to drain the ponded water, introduce tidal exchange, and thereby reinvigorate vegetation growth and marsh condition.

The channel excavation was completed in October 2018 and totaled 1,300 ft (400 m). Initial monitoring indicated that the new channel has had some impact on water levels, but record rainfall has made analysis tricky. The site continues to be monitored.

PART III

Contributing Authors: Nikki Cooley, Karen Cozzetto, Rob Croll, Aimee Delach, Maggie Ernest Johnson, Dara Marks-Marino, Tracy Melvin, Robert Newman, Ted Weber

The Strategy remains a critical guidance document on the needs, tools and solutions for promoting climate adaptation of the Nation's valuable fish, wildlife, plants, and the many people, businesses and economies that depend on them. While much of our understanding of the science, as well as the practice, of adaptation has evolved over the past decade, much remains to be done. To update and continue to implement the Strategy, we provide a set of recommendations that we believe will help accelerate fulfillment of the Strategy in the next decade of climate action.

Management Recommendations

- 1. **Invest time and resources for education and training** opportunities related to climate adaptation for staff at all levels to encourage understanding, appreciation, and integration.
- Review conservation goals and objectives for managed ecosystems, in relation to projections for those systems under a changing climate, on a continual basis. Over time, it may no longer be feasible to preserve historical conditions or even current states and managers may need to develop new or altered goals that reflect desired future conditions in the context of changing climatic conditions.
- 3. **Employ adaptive management** as a key tool in addressing climate change impacts, both direct and indirect, to fish, wildlife, plants, and ecosystems. It should continue to be integrated into all climate change and climate adaptation planning.
- 4. **Conserve and manage habitat at multiple scales**, including large scales previously only considered for long-distance migrations. Managers will need to plan for species movements and changes over time, such as shifting vegetative communities, microclimates, and the need for functional landscape connectivity, including to and among climate refugia. In some cases, translocation may be necessary where the climate changes faster than some species can migrate (such as plants).
- 5. **Identify, protect, and manage refugia** to protect biodiversity and ecosystem services in a changing climate. Managers should monitor refugia over time, identifying changes or threshold conditions beyond which refugia could lose their functionality and become ecological traps.
- 6. Integrate landscape efforts to protect terrestrial climate resilience with watershed protections of resilient aquatic ecosystems. Protection of the lands that comprise the watersheds of high-quality lake, stream, estuary, and coastal habitats will be critical for ensuring their resilience after climate warming. Formally incorporating aquatic system resilience into large-landscape conservation should be a requirement for future adaptation efforts. Places where aquatic and terrestrial resilient landscapes intersect could well be a "sweet spot" for climate-related landscape conservation.

- 7. **Embrace prospective management** practices for ecosystem transformations where agency authorities, mandates, and regulations are viewed through the lens of future conditions rather than historical baselines. These decisions will need to be made intentionally through the use of frameworks such as <u>Resist, Accept, Direct</u>.
- 8. **Manage invasive species** (both nonnative and native, like bark beetles) by considering not only current deleterious impacts on ecosystems, but also for future impacts as climate change allows them to invade new areas. If control is impossible, invasive species will create novel species assemblages that might be accepted as a new future condition.
- 9. Direct resources towards research and management of fish, wildlife, and plant disease outbreaks. Pathogens of humans and native plants and animals, whether terrestrial, aquatic, or marine, may arise, or current ones may become more virulent. Disease vectors like ticks and mosquitoes may broaden their ranges.
- 10. **Consider the implications of shifting land use**, driven by societal change, as well as climate change, in management decisions. Those shifts may result in new opportunities or challenges to species and land management and should be incorporated into planning and implementation actions.
- 11. Recognize that Indigenous knowledges (IKs) are valid and valuable systems of knowledge, grounded in relationships with places and species, developed over millennia of observation and active resource management, equal in value to Western science and crucial for addressing climate change impacts in an inclusive way. The values that drive most IKs, like reciprocity, balance, respect, and interconnectedness, are critical for the sustainability of long-term adaptation decisions. IKs should be sought in keeping with the principle of free, prior, and informed consent and used appropriately in partnership with the Indigenous communities and knowledge holders to whom they belong.
- 12. Ensure that management interventions and allocation of resources for climate adaptation assess and include the needs of marginalized communities, under their direction and according to their goals, through equitable and meaningful consultation and engagement. Marginalized communities are often more vulnerable to disruptions caused by climate change.
- 13. Address climate adaptation planning through cross-sector and cross-jurisdictional coordination, utilizing a full suite of expertise. The complex and interrelated impacts of climate change require adaptation planning that enables coordination between agencies and jurisdictions, and across sectors, such as agriculture, energy, housing and urbanization, transportation and infrastructure, and water resources, to ensure a comprehensive and effective approach is taken.

New Strategy Goal

In reviewing the Strategy, one of the greatest opportunities for improvement lies in recognizing that people are an integral part of "socioecological" systems that are affected by climate change, both dependent on, and exerting influence on, the systems. Overexploitation has long been

recognized as a concern in natural resource management, but sustainable resource use through respectful and adaptive stewardship has deep roots in some cultures, providing models that remain relevant in a changing world. Climate change impacts to ecosystem services, such as productive soils or clean water, will directly affect millions of people, and often these impacts will be felt disproportionately in Black, Indigenous, and other communities of color. These are communities that, historically, conservation has failed to include in meaningful and equitable ways. Moreover, climate change impacts will affect the availability of resources, shift land uses, and displace culturally significant species. These changes will have social, economic, and political implications for communities and cannot be addressed fully without natural resource professionals. Therefore, our most significant recommendation is for the addition of a new Strategy goal that focuses on the need to integrate people into the way we address climate adaptation for fish, wildlife, plants, and the ecosystems on which people depend. We suggest the following language for the addition of an eighth goal to the Strategy: From the outset, include local communities in planning and implementing responses to climate change impacts on natural resources that are of social, cultural, environmental, and economic importance.

GOAL 8: From the outset, include local communities in planning and implementing responses to climate change impacts on natural resources that are of social, cultural, environmental, and economic importance.

Next Steps for the Strategy

As our understanding of climate science has changed and the field of adaptation has evolved over nearly a decade, it presents new opportunities for the Strategy to also adapt. As we enter a new decade of climate impacts and action, adaptation—particularly for natural resources—is going to be critical to ensuring a sustainable, thriving world for both people and natural systems. In addition to the management recommendations listed above, we also provide recommendations on the next steps needed to ensure the Strategy remains an integral part of the country's response to climate change.

- 1. Until such time that federal support for an interagency workgroup is re-established to implement the Strategy (such as the former Joint Implementation Working Group), the National Fish, Wildlife, and Plants Climate Adaptation Network should continue to steward these efforts, including implementation of next steps, if necessary.
- 2. Formally include Goal 8 into the Strategy goals. In addition, strategies and actions for Goal 8 need to be developed in the same format as Goals 1–7 to provide greater guidance in how to fully implement Goal 8 within the adaptation practice. This will provide the opportunity to explain the nuances in community engagement, equity, justice, and inclusion, and other issues interrelated to people, conservation, and climate adaptation.

- 3. Develop best management practices to guide practitioners on alignment and coordination of the Strategy across both sectors and agencies. This will ensure greater mainstreaming of climate adaptation with a focus on natural resources.
- 4. Conduct an in-depth crosswalk and assessment of federal, state, tribal, and nonprofit adaptation plans to identify areas of accomplishments and barriers to implementing the Strategy. Additionally, develop key strategies to help agency personnel better quantify and record effort related to climate adaptation actions.

Conclusions

While much has changed in our understanding of climate adaptation over the past decade, it is clear that the Strategy has provided a useful roadmap at national to local levels for preparing for and responding to the impacts of a changing climate on the Nation's natural resources. While progress has been made to implement the Strategy, there is much still to be done. The recommendations included in Part III outline what will be needed to meet this challenge. While this report represents the assessment of an informal network of practitioners, it is our hope that these recommendations will promote renewed action to update and implement the Strategy across federal, state, tribal, and nonprofit partners. Coordinated action is of paramount importance in facilitating climate action and addressing climate change impacts on the Nation's valuable fish, wildlife, and plants and the many people and economies that depend on them.

References

Alessa L, Kliskey A, Gamble J, Fidel M, Beaujean G, Gosz J. 2016. The role of Indigenous science and local knowledge in integrated observing systems: moving toward adaptive capacity indices and early warning systems. Sustainability Science. 11: 91–102.

Alexander JM, Diez JM, Levine JM. 2015. Novel competitors shape species' responses to climate change. Nature. 525:515–518. doi:10.1038/nature14952 https://files.cercomp.ufg.br/weby/up/102/o/09_2015-Nature-Alexander_et_al-Novel_competitors_shape_species_responses_to_climate_change.pdf

Altizer S, Ostfeld RS, Johnson PTJ, Kutz S, Harvell CD. 2013. Climate change and infectious diseases: from evidence to a predictive framework. Science. 341(6145):514–519.

Anderson MG, Barnett A, Clark M, Prince J, Olivero Sheldon A, Vickery B. 2016. Resilient and connected landscapes for terrestrial conservation. Boston (MA): The Nature Conservancy, Eastern Conservation Science, Eastern Regional Office.

Anderson MG, Clark M, Sheldon AO. 2014. Estimating climate resilience for conservation across geophysical settings. Conservation Biology. 28:959–970. doi:<u>10.1111/cobi.12272</u>.

Andrew SC, Awasthy M, Griffith AD, Nakagawa S, Griffith SC. 2018. Clinal variation in avian body size is better explained by summer maximum temperatures during development than by cold winter temperatures. Auk. 135:206–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1642/AUK-17-129.1</u>

Angilletta MJ Jr, Steury TD, Sears MW. 2004. Temperature, growth rate, and body size in ectotherms: fitting pieces of a life-history puzzle. Integrative and Comparative Biology. 44:498–509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/44.6.498</u>

Aplet GH, Cole DN. 2010. The trouble with naturalness: rethinking park and wilderness goals. In: Cole DN, Yung L, editors. Beyond naturalness: rethinking park and wilderness stewardship in an era of rapid change. Washington (DC): Island Press; p. 12–29.

Aplet GH, McKinley PS. 2017. A portfolio approach to managing ecological risks of global change. Ecosystem Health and Sustainability. 3:e01261.

Aranda I, Forner A, Cuesta B, Valladares F. 2012. Species-specific water use by forest tree species: from the tree to the stand. Agricultural Water Management. 114:67–77.

Ashton IW, Symstad AJ, Davis CJ, Swanson DJ. 2016. Preserving prairies: understanding temporal and spatial patterns of invasive annual bromes in the Northern Great Plains. Ecosphere. 7(8):e01438. doi:10.1002/ecs2.1438

Balmford A, Bruner A, Cooper P, Costanza R, Farber S, Green RE, Jenkins M, Jefferiss P, Jessamy V, Madden J, et al. 2002. Economic reasons for conserving wild nature. Science. 297:950–953.

Baptiste B, Pacheco D, da Cunha MC, Diaz S, editors. 2017. Knowing our lands and resources: Indigenous and local knowledge of biodiversity and ecosystem services in the Americas. Knowledges of Nature 11. Paris: UNESCO 176 pp.

Barber JS, Ruff CP, McArdle JT, Hunter LL, Speck CA, Rogers DW, Greiner CM. 2019. Intertidal clams exhibit population synchrony across spatial and temporal scales. Limnology and Oceanography. 64(S1):S284–S300.

Beever EA, Hall LE, Varner J, Loosen AE, Dunham JB, Gahl MK, Smith FA, Lawler JJ. 2017. Behavioral flexibility as a mechanism for coping with climate change. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. doi:10.1002/fee.1502

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Felisa_Smith/publication/318326493_Behavioral_flexibility_ as a mechanism_for_coping_with_climate_change/links/5aea8d0faca2725dabb64e8c/Behavio ral-flexibility-as-a-mechanism-for-coping-with-climate-change.pdf

Benard J. 2015. Warmer winters reduce frog fecundity and shift breeding phenology, which consequently alters larval development and metamorphic timing. Global Change Biology. 21:1058–1065. doi:10.1111/gcb.12720

Bergmann C. 1847. "Über die Verhältnisse der Wärmeökonomie der Thiere zu ihrer Grösse". Göttinger Studien. 3(1):595–708.

Betts MG, Wolf C, Pfeiffer M, Banks-Leite C, Arroyo-Rodríguez V, Ribeiro DB, Barlow J, Eigenbrod F, Faria D, Fletcher RJ Jr, et al. 2019. Extinction filters mediate the global effects of habitat fragmentation on animals. Science. 366:1236–1239. doi:10.1126/science.aax9387

Bhatta KP. 2018. Downhill shift of alpine plant assemblages under contemporary climate and land-use changes. Ecosphere. 9(1):e02084. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2084</u>

Bindoff NL, Cheung WWL, Kairo JG, Arístegui J, Guinder VA, Hallberg R, Hilmi N, Jiao N, Karim MS, Levin L, et al. 2019. Changing ocean, marine ecosystems, and dependent communities. In: Pörtner H-O, Roberts DC, Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Tignor M, Poloczanska E, Mintenbeck K, Alegría A, Nicolai M, Okem A, et al., editors. IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate. In press.

Black Elk L. 2016. Native science: understanding and respecting other ways of thinking. Rangelands. 38(1):3–4.

Blackburn TM, Gaston KJ, Loder N. 1999. Geographic gradients in body size: a clarification of Bergmann's rule. Diversity and Distributions. 5:165–174. doi:10.1046/j.1472-4642.1999.00046.x

Blanchard JL, et al. 2017. From bacteria to whales: using functional size spectra to model marine ecosystems. Trends in ecology & evolution 32.3(2017): 174–186.

Blois J, Zarnetske PL, Fitzpatrick MC, Finnegan S. 2013. Climate change and the past, present and future of biotic interactions. Science. 341:499–504.

https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/45975256/Climate_Change_and_the_Pas t_Present_and_20160526-17386-i4zfgt.pdf?response-content-

disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DClimate Change and the Past Present and.pdf&X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-

Credential=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A%2F20191101%2Fus-east-

<u>1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20191101T212840Z&X-Amz-Expires=3600&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-</u>

Signature=984391c8d7d8be6f89679449524999af43c82c2e31b81ccb343012a91937751e

Brooks JJ, Crowley H, Coon C, Kendall J Jr. 2019. Expanding our tool kit: traditional knowledge and ocean research. Journal of Ocean Technology. 14(1):49–58.

Burgess MG, Costello C, Fredston-Hermann A, Pinsky ML, Gaines SD, Tilman D, Polasky S. 2017. Range contraction enables harvesting to extinction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 114:3945–3950. 10.1073/pnas.1607551114

Burrows MT, Schoeman DS, Buckley LB, Moore P, Poloczanska ES, Brander KM. 2011. The pace of shifting climate in marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Science 334(6056):652-655. doi: 10.1126/science.1210288

Bustamante M, Helmer EH, Schill S, Belnap J, Brown LK, Brugnoli E, Compton JE, Coupe RH, Hernández-Blanco M, Isbell F, et al. 2018. Chapter 4: Direct and indirect drivers of change in biodiversity and nature's contributions to people. In: Rice J, Seixas CS, Zaccagnini ME, Bedoya-Gaitán M, Valderrama N, editors. The IPBES regional assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services for the Americas. Bonn (Germany): Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services; p. 295–435.

Cajete G. 2000. Native science: natural laws of interdependence. Santa Fe (NM): Clear Light Publishers.

Carroll C, Parks SA, Dobrowski SZ, Roberts DR. 2018. Climatic, topographic, and anthropogenic factors determine connectivity between current and future climate analogs in North America. Global Change Biology. 24:5318–5331. 10.1111/gcb.14373

Cartwright JM, Dwire KA, Freed Z, Hammer SJ, McLaughlin B, Misztal LW, Schenk ER, Spence JR, Springer AE, Stevens LE. 2020. Oases of the future? Springs as potential hydrologic refugia in drying climates. Front Ecol Environ. 18(5):245–253.

Cavender-Bares J, Arroyo MTK, Abell R, Ackerly D, Ackerman D, Arim M, Belnap J, Castañeda Moya F, Dee L, Estrada-Carmona N, et al. 2018. Chapter 3: Status, trends and future dynamics of biodiversity and ecosystems underpinning nature's contributions to people. In: Rice J, Seixas CS, Zaccagnini ME, Bedoya-Gaitán M, Valderrama N, editors. The IPBES regional assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services for the Americas. Bonn (Germany): Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services; p. 171–293.

Chaplin-Kramer R, Sharp RP, Weil C, Bennett EM, Pascual U, Arkema KK, Brauman KA, Bryant BP, Guerry AD, Haddad NM, et al. 2019. Global modeling of nature's contributions to people. Science. 366(6462):255–258.

Chen I-C, Hill JK, Ohlemüller R, Roy DB, Thomas CD. 2011. Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. Science 333(6045):1024-1026. doi: 10.1126/science.1206432

Chen L, Huang J-G, Ma Q, Hänninen H, Tremblay F, Bergeron Y. 2019. Long-term changes in the impacts of global warming on leaf phenology of four temperate tree species. Global Change Biology. 25:997–1004. doi:10.1111/gcb.14496

Chen X, Yang Y. 2020. Observed earlier start of the growing season from middle to high latitudes across the Northern Hemisphere snow-covered landmass for the period 2001–2014. Environmental Research Letters. 15:034042. doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab6d39

Chiabai A, Quiroga S, Martinez-Juarez P, Higgins S, Taylor T. 2018. The nexus between climate change, ecosystem services and human health: towards a conceptual framework. Science of the Total Environment. 635:1191–1204.

Chisolm Hatfield S, Marino E, Powys Whyte K, Dell KD, Mote PW. 2018 Indian time: time, seasonality, and culture in Traditional Ecological Knowledge of climate change. Ecological Processes. 7:25.

Christie KS, Jensen WF, Schmidt JH, Boyce MS. 2015. Long-term changes in pronghorn abundance index linked to climate and oil development in North Dakota. Biological Conservation. 192:445–453. dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.11.007

CIKW (Climate and Traditional Knowledges Workgroup). 2014. Guidelines for considering traditional knowledges in climate change initiatives. <u>https://climatetkw.wordpress.com</u>.

Clavel J, Morlon H. 2017. Accelerated body size evolution during cold climatic periods in the Cenozoic. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114(16):4183-4188. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1606868114

Climate Central. 2019. River and stream temperature trends around the U.S. [cited Mar 2020]. Available from <u>https://www.climatecentral.org/gallery/maps/river-and-stream-temperature-trends-around-the-us</u>

Colombi BJ, Smith CL. 2014. Insights on adaptive capacity: three Indigenous Pacific Northwest historical narratives. Journal of Northwest Anthropology. 48(2):189–201.

Coppock DL. 2016. Cast off the shackles of academia! Use participatory approaches to tackle real-world problems with underserved populations. Rangelands. 38(1):5–13.

Costanza R, d'Arge R, de Groot R, Farber S, Grasso M, Hannon B, Limburg K, Naeem S, O'Neill RV, Paruelo J, et al. 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature. 387(6630):253–260.

Costanza R, de Groot R, Braat L, Kubiszewski I, Fioramonti L, Sutton P, Farber S, Grasso M. 2017. Twenty years of ecosystem services: how far have we come and how far do we still need to go? Ecosystem Services. 28(2017):1–16.

Costanza R, Pérez-Maqueo O, Luisa Martinez M, Sutton P, Anderson S, Mulder K. 2008. The value of coastal wetlands for hurricane protection. Ambio. 37(4):241–248.

Cox AR, Robertson RJ, Rendell WB, Bonier F. 2020. Population decline in tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*) linked to climate change and inclement weather on the breeding ground. Oecologia. 192:713–722. doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04618-8

Cozzetto K, Maldonado J, Fluharty S, Hostler J, Cosby C. 2018. Chapter 4 – Aquatic Habitats. In *Yurok Tribe Climate Change Adaptation Plan for Water and Aquatic Resources.*

Crimmins TM, Crimmins MA, Gerst KL, Rosemartin AH, Weltzin JF. 2017. USA National Phenology Network's volunteer-contributed observations yield predictive models of phenological transitions. PLoS ONE. 12(8): e0182919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182919</u>

Crooks KR, Burdett CL, Theobald DM, King SRB, Di Marco M, Rondinini C, Boitani L. 2017. Quantification of habitat fragmentation reveals extinction risk in terrestrial mammals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 114:7635–7640. 10.1073/pnas.1705769114

Cullingham CI, Cooke JEK, Dang S, Davis CS, Cooke BJ, Coltman DW. 2011. Mountain pine beetle host-range expansion threatens the boreal forest. Molecular Ecology. 20(10):2157–2171.
Czech B, Covington S, Crimmins TM, Ericson JA, Flather C, Gale M, Gerst K, Higgins M, Kaib M, Marino E, et al. 2014. Planning for climate change on the National Wildlife Refuge System. Washington (DC): U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, National Wildlife Refuge System.

D'Aloia CC, Naujokaitis-Lewis I, Blackford C, Chu C, Curtis JMR, Darling E, Guichard F, Leroux SJ, Martensen AC, Rayfield B, et al. 2019. Coupled networks of permanent protected areas and dynamic conservation areas for biodiversity conservation under climate change. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution. 7:article 27. 10.3389/fevo.2019.00027

Dalton M, Hatfield SC, Petersen A. 2018. Tribal Climate Adaptation Guidebook. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. <u>http://www.occri.net/projects/tribal-climate-adaptation-guidebook/</u>

Dahl TE, Stedman SM. 2013. Status and trends of wetlands in the coastal watersheds of the conterminous United States 2004 to 2009. U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service.

Dahl TE. 2011. Status and trends of wetlands in the conterminous United States 2004 to 2009. Washington (DC): U.S. Department of the Interior; Fish and Wildlife Service. 108 p.

Daufresne M, Lengfellner K, Sommer U. 2009. Global warming benefits the small in aquatic ecosystems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106(31):12788–12793. National Academy of Sciences.

David-Chavez DM, Gavin MC. 2018. A global assessment of Indigenous community engagement in climate research. Environmental Research Letters. 13(12):123005.

Davis SJM. 1981. The effects of temperature change and domestication on the body size of late Pleistocene to Holocene mammals of Israel. Paleobiology 7(1):101-114.

Dell AI, Pawar S, Savage VM. 2014. Temperature dependence of trophic interactions are driven by asymmetry of species responses and foraging strategy. Journal of Animal Ecology. 83:70–84. 10.1111/1365-2656.12081

Diaz S, Settele J., Brondízio ES, Ngo HT, Agard J, Arneth A, Balvanera P, Brauman KA, Butchart SHM, Chan KMA, et al. 2019. Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth points to the need for transformative change. Science. 366(6471). 10.1126/science.aax3100

Díaz S, Settele J, Brondízio E, Ngo HT, Guèze M, Agard Trinidad J, Arneth A, Balvanera P, Brauman K, Butchart S, et al. 2019. Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the intergovernmental science-policy platform on biodiversity and ecosystem services. Bonn (Germany): Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.

Dobrowski SZ. 2011. A climatic basis for microrefugia: the influence of terrain on climate. Global Change Biology. 17(2):1022–1035.

Donovan TM, Thompson FR III, Faaborg J, Probst JR. 1995. Reproductive success of migratory birds in habitat sources and sinks. Conservation Biology. 9:1380–1395.

Dougherty R. 2011. 2010 Maryland State Parks economic impact & visitor study. Baltimore (MD): Maryland Office of Tourism Development.

Dramstad WE, Olson JD, Forman RTT. 1996. Landscape ecology principles in landscape architecture and land-use planning. Washington (DC): Island Press. 80 p.

Ebersole JL, Quiñones RM, Clements S, Letcher BH. 2020. Managing climate refugia for freshwater fishes under an expanding human footprint. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 18(5):271–280.

Elevitch CR, Ragone D. 2018. Breadfruit agroforestry guide: planning and implementation of regenerative organic methods. Holualoa (HI): Breadfruit Institute of the National Tropical Botanical Garden, Kalaheo, Hawaii and Permanent Agriculture Resources.

Emery MR, Wrobel A, Hansen MH, Dockry M, Moser WK, Stark KJ, Gilbert JH. 2014. Using traditional ecological knowledge as a basis for targeted forest inventories: paper birch (*Betula papyrifera*) in the US Great Lakes region. Journal of Forestry. 112(2):207–214.

Estrada A, Morales-Castilla I, Caplat P, Early R. 2016. Usefulness of species traits in predicting range shifts. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 31(3):190-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.12.014</u>

Evelsizer V, Skopec M. 2018. Pesticides, including neonicotinoids, in drained wetlands of Iowa's prairie pothole region. Wetlands. 38:221–232. 10.1007/s13157-016-0796-x

Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs, Adaptation Advisory Committee. 2011. Massachusetts climate change adaptation report. Boston, MA. <u>https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2017/11/29/Full%20report.pdf</u>

Farley KA, Jobbágy EG, Jackson RB. 2005 Effects of afforestation on water yield: a global synthesis with implications for policy. Global Change Biology. 11(10):1565–1576.

Fisichelli NA, Schuurman GW, Hawkins C. 2016. Is 'resilience' maladaptive? Towards an accurate lexicon for climate change adaptation. Environmental Management. 57:753–758.

Flesch AD, Rosen PC, Holm P. 2017. Long-term changes in abundances of Sonoran Desert lizards reveal complex responses to climatic variation. Global Change Biology. 23:5492–5508. doi:10.1111/gcb.13813

Floyd M. 2001. Managing National Parks in a multicultural society: Searching for common ground. The George Wright Forum 18(3): 41–51.

FWC (Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission). 2016. A guide to climate change adaptation for conservation - Version 1. Tallahassee, Florida. 295 p.

FWC (Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission). 2019. Florida's Wildlife Legacy Initiative: Florida's State Wildlife Action Plan. Tallahassee (FL): Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. <u>https://myfwc.com/media/22767/2019-action-plan.pdf</u>

Forman RTT, Godron M. 1986. Landscape ecology. New York (NY): John Wiley and Sons. 619 p.

NCA4 (Fourth National Climate Assessment). 2018. Indigenous Peoples Terminology for the Fourth National Climate Assessment. Downloaded from:

http://www7.nau.edu/itep/main/tcc/docs/resources/Indigenous Peoples Terminology for NCA4_final.pdf

Francis CD. 2015. Habitat loss and degradation: understanding anthropogenic stressors and their impacts on individuals, populations, and communities. Ch. 5 In: Morrison ML, Mathewson HA, editors. Wildlife habitat conservation: concepts, challenges, and solutions. Baltimore (MD): Johns Hopkins University Press; p. 47–62.

Friedlander B. 2017. Climate change, sparse policies endanger right whale population. Cornell Chronicle. November 3. ht<u>ttp://news.cornell.edu/stories/2017/11/climate-change-sparse-policiesendanger-right-whale-population</u>

Fusco EJ, Finn JT, Balch JK, Nagy RC, Bradley BA. 2019. Invasive grasses increase fire occurrence and frequency across US ecoregions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 116:23594–23599. 10.1073/pnas.1908253116

Galbraith H, Morelli TL. 2017. Vulnerabilities to climate change of Massachusetts animal Species of Greatest Conservation Need. <u>https://necsc.umass.edu/sites/default/files/MAVA2017-Galbraith_Morelli.pdf</u>

Gallardo B, Clavero M, Sánchez MI, Vilà M. 2015. Global ecological impacts of invasive species in aquatic ecosystems. Global Change Biology. 10.1111/gcb.13004

Gallinat AS, Primack RB, Wagner DL. 2015. Autumn, the neglected season in climate change research. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 30(3): 169-176

Gardner JL, Rowley E, de Rebeira P, de Rebeira A, Brouwer L. 2017. Effects of extreme weather on two sympatric Australian passerine bird species. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 372(1723). <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0148</u>

Gillingham PK, Bradbury RB, Roy DB, Anderson BJ, Baxter JM, Bourn NAD, Crick HQP, Findon RA, Fox R, Franco A, et al. 2015. The effectiveness of protected areas in the conservation of species with changing geographical ranges. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society. 115:707–717.

Glick P, Stein BA, Edelson NA, editors. 2011. Scanning the conservation horizon: a guide to climate change vulnerability assessment. Washington (DC): National Wildlife Federation.

Global Commission on Adaptation, World Resources Institute. 2019. Adapt now: a global call for leadership on climate resilience. https://cdn.gca.org/assets/2019-09/GlobalCommission_Report_FINAL.pdf

Gonzalez P, Garfin GM, Breshears DD, Brooks KM, Brown HE, Elias EH, Gunasekara A, Huntly N, Maldonado JK, Mantua NJ, et al. 2018. Southwest. In: Reidmiller DR, Avery CW, Easterling DR, Kunkel KE, Lewis KLM, Maycock TK, Stewart BC, editors. Impacts, risks, and adaptation in the United States: fourth national climate assessment, Volume II. Washington (DC): U.S. Global Change Research Program; p. 1101–1184. doi:10.7930/NCA4.2018.CH25

Gordon LJ, Peterson GD, Bennett EM. 2008. Agricultural modifications of hydrological flows create ecological surprises. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 23:211–219. 10.1016/j.tree.2007.11.011

Green DM. 2017. Amphibian breeding phenology trends under climate change: predicting the past to forecast the future. Global Change Biology. 23:646–656. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13390

Gregg RM, Kershner J. 2019. Extremes to ex-streams: ecological drought adaptation in a changing climate. Bainbridge Island (WA): EcoAdapt. EcoAdapt.org

Griffith AW, Gobler CJ. 2020. Harmful algal blooms: a climate change co-stressor in marine and freshwater ecosystems. Harmful Algae. Vol. 91.

Griscom BW, Adams J, Ellis PW, Houghton RA, Lomax G, Miteva DA, Schlesinger WH, Shoch D, Siikamäki JV, Smith P, et al. 2017. Natural climate solutions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA. 114(44):11645–11650.

Groesbeck AS, Rowell K, Lepofsky D, Salomon AK. 2014. Ancient clam gardens increased shellfish production: adaptive strategies from the past can inform food security today. PloS ONE. 9(3):e91235.

Grumbine RE. 1994. What is ecosystem management? Conservation Biology. 8(1):27-38.

Hannibal ME. 2012. Pika: the alpine poster child for climate change. Outside Magazine. September 18. <u>https://www.outsideonline.com/1903931/pika-alpine-poster-child-climate-change</u>

Hansen GJA, Read JS, Hansen JF, Winslow LA. 2017. Projected shifts in fish species dominance in Wisconsin lakes under climate change. Global Change Biology. 23:1463–1476. 10.1111/gcb.13462

Hansen JH, Urban DL. 1992. Avian response to landscape pattern: the role of species' life histories. Landscape Ecology. 7:163–180.

Hanski I. 1997. Predictive and practical metapopulation models: the incidence function approach. In: Tilman D, Kareiva P, editors. Spatial ecology. Princeton (NJ): Princeton University Press; p. 21–45.

Hardner J, McKenney B. 2006. The U.S. National Park System: an economic asset at risk. Washington (DC): National Parks Conservation Association.

Harling W, Tripp B. 2014. Western Klamath Restoration Partnership, A plan for restoring fireadapted landscapes. Western Klamath Restoration Partnership; MKWC: Orleans, CA, USA; p. 57. Available:

https://www.karuk.us/images/docs/dnr/2014%20Western%20Klamath%20Restoration%20Partn ership_Restoration%20Plan_DRAFT_FINA%20%20%20.pdf

Harris LD. 1984. The fragmented forest. Chicago (IL): University of Chicago Press. 211 p.

Hebertson EG, Jenkins MJ. 2008. Climate factors associated with historic spruce beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) outbreaks in Utah and Colorado. Environmental Entomology. 37(2):281–292.

Heller NE, Zavaleta ES. 2009. Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: a review of 22 years of recommendations. Biological Conservation. 142(1):14–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.10.006

Hendrickson JR, Sedivec KK, Toledo D, Printz J. 2018. Challenges facing grasslands in the northern Great Plains and north central region. Rangelands 41: 23-29. doi 10.1016/j.rala.2018.11.002

Hobbs RJ, Higgs E, Harris JA. 2009. Novel ecosystems: implications for conservation and restoration. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 24(11):599–605.

Hoekman D, Springer YP, Gibson C, Barker CM, Barrera R, Blackmore MS, Bradshaw WE, Foley DH, Ginsberg HS, Hayden MH, et al. 2016. Design for mosquito abundance, diversity, and phenology sampling within the National Ecological Observatory Network. Ecosphere. 7(5):e01320. 10.1002/ecs2.1320

Horton KG, La Sorte FA, Sheldon D, Lin T-Y, Winner K, Bernstein G, Maji S, Hochachka WM, Farnsworth A. 2020. Phenology of nocturnal avian migration has shifted at the continental scale. Nature Climate Change. 10:63–68.

Horton KG, Van Doren BM, La Sorte FA, Cohen EB, Clipp HL, Buler JJ, Fink D, Kelly JF, Farnsworth A. 2019. Holding steady: little change in intensity or timing of bird migration over the Gulf of Mexico. Global Change Biology. 25:1106–1118. doi:10.1111/gcb.14540

Hunt G, Roy K. 2006. Climate change, body size evolution and Cope's rule in deep-sea ostracodes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103(5):1347-1352. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0510550103

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2019. The ocean and cryosphere in a changing climate. Summary for policymakers. https://report.ipcc.ch/srocc/pdf/SROCC_SPM_Approved.pdf

IPBES. 2018. The IPBES regional assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services for the Americas. In: Rice J, Seixas CS, Zaccagnini ME, Bedoya-Gaitán M, Valderrama N, editors. Bonn (Germany): Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. 656 p. www.ipbes.net

IPBES. 2019. Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. In: Díaz S, Settele J, Brondízio ES, Ngo HT, Guèze M, Agard J, Arneth A, Balvanera P, Brauman KA, Butchart SHM, et al., editors. Bonn (Germany): IPBES Secretariat. 56 p.

IPCC. 2019. Summary for Policymakers. In: Shukla PR, Skea J, Calvo Buendia E, Masson-Delmotte V, Pörtner H-O, Roberts DC, Zhai P, Slade R, Connors S, van Diemen R, et al, editors. Climate change and land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems. In press.

ITEP (Institute for Tribal Environmental Professionals). 2019. Adaptation planning tool kit. <u>http://www7.nau.edu/itep/main/tcc/Resources/adaptation</u>

Jackson ST, Hobbs RJ. 2009. Ecological restoration in the light of ecological history. Science. 325(5940):567–569.

James I. 2014. Struggle for survival: some animals moving, vanishing as deserts grow hotter. The Desert Sun, June 8.

https://www.desertsun.com/story/news/environment/2014/06/07/climate-change-californiadesert-animals/10035779/

Janowiak MK, Swanston CW, Nagel LM, Brandt LA, Butler PR, Handler SD, Shannon PD, Iverson LR, Matthews SN, Prasad A, et al. 2014. A practical approach for translating climate change adaptation principles into forest management actions. Journal of Forestry. 112(5):424-433. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5849/jof.13-094</u>

Jantarasami LC, Novak R, Delgado R, Marino E, McNeeley S, Narducci C, Raymond-Yakoubian J, Singletary L, Powys Whyte K. 2018. Tribes and Indigenous peoples. In: Reidmiller DR, Avery CW, Easterling DR, Kunkel KE, Lewis KLM, Maycock TK, Stewart BC, editors. Impacts, risks, and adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II. Washington (DC): U.S. Global Change Research Program; p. 572–603. doi:10.7930/NCA4.2018.CH15

Janzen FJ, Hoekstra LA, Brooks RJ, Carroll DM, Gibbons JW, Greene JL, Iverson JB, Litzgus JD, Michael ED, Parren SG, et al. 2018. Altered spring phenology of North American freshwater turtles and the importance of representative populations. Ecology and Evolution. 8:5815–5827. doi:10.1002/ece3.4120

Jenkins WA, Murray BC, Kramer RA, Faulkner SP. 2010. Valuing ecosystem services from wetlands restoration in the Mississippi Alluvial Valley. Ecological Economics. 69:1051–1061.

Johnson JT, Howitt R, Cajete G, Berkes F, Louis RP, Kliskey A. 2016. Weaving Indigenous and sustainability sciences to diversify our methods. Sustainability Science. 11:1–11.

Johnston CA. 2013. Wetland losses due to row crop expansion in the Dakota Prairie Pothole Region. Wetlands. 33:175–182.

Karl TR, Melillo JM, Peterson TC (eds.). 2009. Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States. Cambridge University Press.

Karuk Tribe. 2019. Karuk Climate Adaptation Plan.

Keellings D, Hernández Ayala JJ. 2019. Extreme rainfall associated with Hurricane Maria over Puerto Rico and its connections to climate variability and change. Geophysical Research Letters. 46(5):2964–2973.

Kendall JJ Jr, Brooks JJ, Campbell C, Wedemeyer KL, Coon CC, Warren SE, Auad G, Thurston DK, Cluck RE, Mann FE, et al. 2017. Use of traditional knowledge by the United States Bureau of Ocean Energy Management to support resource management. Czech Polar Reports. 7(2):151–163.

Kimmerer RL. 2013. Braiding sweetgrass: Indigenous wisdom, scientific knowledge, and the teachings of plants. Minneapolis (MN): Milkweed Editions.

Kirschbaum AA, Pfaff E, GafVert UB. 2016. Are U.S. national parks in the Upper Midwest acting as refugia? Inside vs. outside park disturbance regimes. Ecosphere. 7(9):e01467. 10.1002/ecs2.1467

Kjesbu OS, Bogstad B, Devine JA,Gjøsæter H, Howell D, Ingvaldsen RB, Nash RDM, Skjæraasen JE. 2014. Synergies between climate and management for Atlantic cod fisheries at high latitudes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 111:3478–3483. 10.1073/pnas.1316342111

Krawchuk MA, Meigs GW, Cartwright JM, Coop JD, Davis R, Holz A, Kolden C, Meddens AJH. 2020. Disturbance refugia within mosaics of forest fire, drought, and insect outbreaks. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 18(5):235–244.

Lake FK, Christianson AC. 2019. Indigenous fire stewardship. In: Manzello SL, editor. Encylopedia of wildfires and wildland-urban interface (WUI) fires. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51727-8_225-1

Laming R. 1990. The national parks: loved to death. UK CEED Bulletin. 27:15–17.

Latombe G, Pyšek P, Jeschke JM, Blackburn TM, Bacher S, Capinha C, Costello MJ, Fernández M, Gregory RD, Hobern D, et al. 2017. A vision for global monitoring of biological invasions. Biological Conservation. 213(B):295–308.

Lenoir J, et al. 2010. Going against the flow: potential mechanisms for unexpected downslope range shifts in a warming climate. Ecography 33(2): 295-303.

Lenoir J, Svenning J-C. 2015. Climate-related range shifts – a global multidimensional synthesis and new research directions. Ecography 38: 15-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.00967</u>

Leopold A. 1949. A sand county almanac. London (UK): Oxford University Press.

Lepofsky D, Caldwell M. 2013. Indigenous marine resource management on the Northwest Coast of North America. Ecological Processes. 2(1):12.

Link JS, Griffis R, Busch S, editors. 2015. NOAA fisheries climate science strategy. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-F/SPO-155. 70 p. https://www.st.nmfs.noaa.gov/Assets/ecosystems/climate/documents/NCSS_Final.pdf

Link T, Marshall A, Ausband D, Strickfaden K, Svancara L. 2020. Locating snow refugia in complex terrain: leveraging automated image data to adapt wildlife and habitat management practices. Symposium presentation at: 2020 Virtual North American Congress for Conservation Biology, 30 July 2020.

Lipton D, Rubenstein MA, Weiskopf SR, Crozier L, Fogarty M, Gaichas S, Hyde KJW, Morelli TL, Morisette J, Moustahfid H, et al. 2018. Ecosystems, ecosystem services, and biodiversity. In: Reidmiller DR, Avery CW, Easterling DR, Kunkel KE, Lewis KLM, Maycock TK, Stewart BC, editors. Impacts, risks, and adaptation in the United States: fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II. Washington (DC): U.S. Global Change Research Program; p. 268–321. 10.7930/NCA4.2018.CH7

Littlefield CE, Krosby M, Michalak JL, Lawler JJ. 2019. Connectivity for species on the move: supporting climate-driven range shifts. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 17(5):270–278. 10.1002/fee.2043

Long JW, Anderson MK, Quinn-Davidson L, Goode RW, Lake FK, Skinner CN. 2016. Restoring California black oak ecosystems to promote tribal values and wildlife. Albany (CA): U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, PSW-GTR-252. 110 p.

Loomis J, Kent P, Strange L, Fausch K, Covich A. 2000. Measuring the total economic value of restoring ecosystem services in an impaired river basin: results from a contingent valuation survey. Ecological Economics. 33:103–117.

Luhring TM, Holdo RM. 2015. Trade-offs between growth and maturation: the cost of reproduction for surviving environmental extremes. Oecologia 178:723-732.

Magness DR, Morton JM, Huettmann F, Chapin FS III, McGuire AD. 2011. A climate-change adaptation framework to reduce continental-scale vulnerability across conservation reserves. Ecosphere. 2(10):112. doi:10.1890/ES11-00200.1

Mallakpour I, Villarini G. 2015. The changing nature of flooding across the central United States. Nature Climate Change. 5:250–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2516

Mallory CD, Williamson SN, Campbell MW, Boyce MS. 2020. Response of barren-ground caribou to advancing spring phenology. Oecologia. 192:837–852. doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04604-0

Markandya A. 2014. Benefits and costs of the biodiversity targets for the post-2015 development agenda: post-2015 consensus. Tewksbury (MA): Copenhagen Consensus Center. 27 p.

Marshick J, Renz L, Sipes J, Becker D, Paulson D. 2001. Preserving a spirit of place: US Highway 93 on the Flathead Indian Reservation. Proceedings from the 2001 International Conference on Ecology and Transportation [cited 3 Sep 2020]. Available from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/51f1h0df

Martin JM, Barboza PS. 2020. Decadal heat and drought drive body size of North American bison (*Bison bison*) along the Great Plains. Ecology and Evolution. 10:336–349. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5898

Martin JM, Mead JI, Barboza PS. 2018. Bison body size and climate change. Ecology and Evolution. 8:4564–4574. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4019

Massachusetts Division of Fisheries and Wildlife. 2015. Massachusetts State Wildlife Action Plan 2015. Westborough, MA.

Maxwell SL, Fuller RA, Brooks TM, Watson JEM. 2016. Biodiversity: the ravages of guns, nets and bulldozers. Nature. 536:143–145.

McLaughlin BC, Ackerly DD, Klos PZ, Natali J, Dawson TE, Thompson SE. 2017. Hydrologic refugia, plants, and climate change. Global Change Biology. 23(8):2941–2961.

Medin DL, Bang M. 2014. Who's asking? Native science, Western science, and science education. Cambridge (MA): MIT Press.

Menzel A, Yuan Y, Matiu M, Sparks T, Schelfinger H, Gehrig R, Estrella N. 2020. Climate change fingerprints in recent European plant phenology. Global Change Biology. 26:2599–2612. doi:10.1111/gcb.15000

Michalak JL, Lawler JJ, Roberts DR, Carroll C. 2018. Distribution and protection of climatic refugia in North America. Conservation Biology. 32:1414–1425. 10.1111/cobi.13130

Millar CI, Stephenson NL, Stephens SL. 2007. Climate change and forests of the future: managing in the face of uncertainty. Ecological Applications. 17(8):2145–2151.

MEA (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment). 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: synthesis. Washington (DC): Island Press.

Miller-Rushing AJ, Høye TT, Inouye DW, Post E. 2010. The effects of phenological mismatches on demography. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. 365:3177–3186. doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0148

Monahan WB, Rosemartin A, Gerst KL, Fisichelli NA, Ault T, Schwartz MD, Gross JE, Weltzin JF. 2016. Climate change is advancing spring onset across the U.S. national park system. Ecosphere. 7(10):e01465. 10.1002/ecs2.1465

MDT (Montana Department of Transportation). 2020. Montana traffic data [cited 3 Sep 2020]. Available from https://mdt.maps.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=8a0308abed8846b6b533781e7a96eedd.

Morelli TL, Daly C, Dobrowski SZ, Dulen DM, Ebersole JL, Jackson ST, Lundquist JD, Millar CI, Maher SP, Monahan WB, et al. 2016. Managing climate change refugia for climate adaptation. PLoS ONE 11(8):e0159909.

Murray IW, Smith FA. 2012. Estimating the influence of the thermal environment on activity patterns of the desert woodrat (*Neotoma lepida*) using temperature chronologies. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 90:1171–1180.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/bcdc/427089d10613333b97f0ad8a82c82e387634.pdf

Nabhan GP. 2010. Perspectives in ethnobiology: ethnophenology and climate change. Journal of Ethnobiology. 30(1):1–4.

National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Joint Implementation Working Group. 2014. National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy: Taking Action. Washington (DC): Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Council on Environmental Quality, Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. wildlifeadaptationstrategy.gov

National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Joint Implementation Working Group. 2015. National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy Next Steps: A Report on Implementation. Washington (DC): Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Council on Environmental Quality, Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. wildlifeadaptationstrategy.gov

National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Partnership. 2012. National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy. Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Council on Environmental Quality, Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

NIFC (National Interagency Fire Center). 2020. Total wildland fires and acres (1926–2019) [cited 2 Nov 2020]. Available from <u>https://www.nifc.gov/fireInfo/fireInfo_stats_totalFires.html</u>

National Invasive Species Council (2016) 2016-2018 Management Plan. Washington, DC. <u>https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/uploads/2016-2018-nisc-management-plan.pdf</u>. Accessed 28 Dec 2020

NPS (National Park Service). 2012. Climate change action plan. Washington (DC): U.S. Department of the Interior.

NPS (National Park Service). 2013. Using scenarios to explore climate change: a handbook for practitioners. Fort Collins (CO): National Park Service Climate Change Response Program. https://www.nps.gov/parkhistory/online_books/climate/CCScenariosHandbookJuly2013.pdf

NPS (National Park Service). 2020. Overview of TEK. Downloaded from: <u>https://www.nps.gov/subjects/tek/description.htm</u>. Last updated August 5, 2020.

NPS (National Park Service). 2017. Methods for learning TEK [cited 7 Oct 2019]. Available from <u>https://www.nps.gov/subjects/tek/learning.htm</u>

Naya DE, Naya H, Cook J. 2017. Climate change and body size trends in aquatic and terrestrial endotherms: does habitat matter? PLoS ONE. 12(8):e0183051. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183051

Newbold T, Hudson LN, Hill SLL, Contu S, Lysenko I, Senior RA, Börger L, Bennett DJ, Choimes A, Collen B, et al. 2015. Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. Nature. 520:45–50. 10.1038/nature14324

NPT DFRM (Nez Perce Tribe Department of Fisheries Resources Management). 2019. Nez Perce tribal hatchery. Available from http://www.nptfisheries.org/Divisions/Production/ProductionProjects/198335000.aspx.

Nisbet T. 2005. Water use by trees. Edinburgh (UK): Forestry Commission.

NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. 2020a. Climate at a glance: global time series [cited 2 Apr 2020]. Available from <u>https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/</u>

NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. 2020b. Climate at a glance: national time series [cited 18 Mar 2020]. Available from <u>https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/</u>

NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. 2020c. Climate at a glance: statewide time series [cited 18 Mar 2020]. Available from <u>https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/</u>

NOAA. What are microplastics? [cited 25 Jun 2018]. National Ocean Service. Available from https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/microplastics.html

Norton-Smith K, Lynn K, Chief K, Cozzetto K, Donatuto J, Hiza Redsteer M, Kruger LE, Maldonado J, Viles C, Whyte KP. 2016. Climate change and Indigenous peoples: a synthesis of current impacts and experiences. Portland (OR): U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. PNW-GTR-944. 136 pp.

Noyes D, McElwee M, Miller H, Clark B, Van Tiem L, Walcott K, Erwin K, Levin E. 2009. The toxicology of climate change: environmental contaminants in a warming world. Environment International. 35(6):971–986.

O'Connor J, Rittenhouse T. 2016. Snow cover and late fall movement influence wood frog survival during an unusually cold winter. Oecologia. 181:635–644. doi:10.1007/s00442-015-3450-z

Odum HT. 1983. Systems ecology. New York (NY): John Wiley & Sons.

Ogden LE. 2018. Climate change, pathogens, and people: the challenges of monitoring a moving target. BioScience. 68(10):733–739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biy101</u>

OF (Olohana Foundation). 2016. Indigenous knowledge systems. Available from http://olohana.org/index.php/indigenous-knowledge-systems/

Ontl TA, Janowiak MK, Swanston CW, Daley J, Handler S, Cornett M, Hagenbuch S, Handrick C, McCarthy L, Patch N. 2020. Forest management for carbon sequestration and climate adaptation. Journal of Forestry. 118(1):86–101.

OSI and NALCC (Open Space Institute and the North Atlantic Landscape Conservation Cooperative). 2018. Conserving nature in a changing climate: a three part guide for land trusts in the Northeast. <u>https://climatechange.lta.org/resilience-guide/</u>

Panci H, Montano M, Schultz A, Bartnick T, Stone K. 2018. Climate change vulnerability assessment version 1. Integrating scientific knowledge and traditional ecological knowledge. Great Lakes Indian Fish & Wildlife Commission.

Park T, Chen C, Macias-Fauria M, Tømmervik H, Choi S, Winkler A, Bhatt US, Walker DA, Piao S, Brovkin V, et al. 2019. Changes in timing of seasonal peak photosynthetic activity in northern ecosystems. Global Change Biology. 25:2382–2395. doi:10.1111/gcb.14638

Parmesan C, Yohe G. 2003. A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. Nature 421: 37-42.

Parmesan C. 2006. Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics. 37:637–669. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100

Peterson DL, Millar CI, Joyce LA, Furniss MJ, Halofsky JE, Neilson RP, Morelli TL. 2011. Responding to climate change in national forests: a guidebook for developing adaptation options. Portland (OR): U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. PNW-GTR-855. 109 p.

Piao S, Liu Q, Chen A, Janssens IA, Fu Y, Dai J, Liu L, Lian X, Shen M, Zhu X. 2019. Plant phenology and global climate change: current progresses and challenges. Global Change Biology. 25:1922–1940. doi:10.1111/gcb.14619

Pieter Tans P, Keeling R. 2020. Trends in atmospheric carbon dioxide [cited 18 Mar 2020]. Available from https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/

Pinsky ML, Worm B, Fogarty MJ, Sarmiento JL, Levin SA. 2013. Marine taxa track local climate velocities. Science 341(6151): 1239-1242. DOI: 10.1126/science.1239352

Post E, Forchhammer MC, Stenseth NC, Callaghan TV. 2001. The timing of life-history events in a changing climate. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B. 268:15–23. doi:10.1098/rspb.2000.1324

Prather RM, Kaspari M. 2019. Plants regulate grassland arthropod communities through biomass, quality, and habitat heterogeneity. Ecosphere. 10(10):e02909. doi:10.1002/ecs2.2909

Prevéy JS, Parker LE, Harrington CA, Lamb CT, Proctor MF. 2020. Climate change shifts in habitat suitability and phenology of huckleberry (*Vaccinium membranaceum*). Agricultural and Forest Meteorology. 280:107803. doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.107803

Prodon R, Geniez P, Cheylan M, Devers F, Chuine I, Besnard A. 2017. A reversal of the shift towards earlier spring phenology in several Mediterranean reptiles and amphibians during the 1998–2013 warming slowdown. Global Change Biology. 23:5481–5491. doi:10.1111/gcb.13812

Prokosch J, Bernitz Z, Bernitz H, Erni B, Altwegg R. 2019. Are animals shrinking due to climate change? Temperature-mediated selection on body mass in mountain wagtails. Oecologia. 189(3):841–849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-019-04368-2</u>

Redvers N. 2019. The science of the sacred: bridging global Indigenous medicine systems and modern scientific principles. Berkeley (CA): North Atlantic Books.

Reed KA, Stansfield AM, Wehner MF, Zarzycki CM. 2020. Forecasted attribution of the human influence on Hurricane Florence. Science Advances. 6(1):p.eaaw9253.

Rickbeil GJM, Merkle JA, Anderson G, Atwood MP, Beckmann JP, Cole EK, Courtemanch AB, Dewey S, Gustine DD, Kauffman MJ, et al. 2019. Plasticity in elk migration timing is a response

to changing environmental conditions. Global Change Biology. 25:2368–2381. doi:10.1111/gcb.14629

Riedlinger D, Berkes F. 2001. Contributions of traditional knowledge to understanding climate change in the Canadian Arctic. Polar Record. 37(203):315–328.

Robinson SK, Thompson FR III, Donovan TM, Whitehead DR, Faaborg J. 1995. Regional forest fragmentation and the nesting success of migratory birds. Science. 267:1987–1990.

Rockwell-Postel Mei, Laginhas BB, Bradley BA. 2020. Supporting proactive management in the context of climate change: prioritizing range-shifting invasive plants based on impact. Biological Invasions. 421. Available from https://scholarworks.umass.edu/nrc_faculty_pubs/421

Román-Palacios C, Wiens JJ. 2020. Recent responses to climate change reveal the drivers of species extinction and survival. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 117:4211–4217. doi:10.1073/pnas.1913007117

Rosenberg KV, Dokter AM, Blancher PJ, Sauer JR, Smith AC, Smith PA, Stanton JC, Panjabi A, Helft L, Parr M, Marra PP. 2019. Decline of the North American avifauna. Science. 366:120–124. doi:10.1126/science.aaw1313

Rowe KC, Rowe KMC, Tingley MW, Koo MS, Patton JL, Conroy CJ, Perrine JD, Beissinger SR, Moritz C. 2015. Spatially heterogeneous impact of climate change on small mammals of montane California. Proceedings of the Royal Society B. 282(1799):20141857. doi:10.1098/rspb.2014.1857

Royer S-J, Ferrón S, Wilson ST, Karl DM. 2018. Production of methane and ethylene from plastic in the environment. PLoS ONE. 13(8):e0200574. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200574

Rowland EL, Cross MS, Hartmann H. 2014. Considering multiple futures: scenario planning to address uncertainty in natural resource conservation. Washington (DC): U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

Runyon AN, Carlson AR, Gross J, Lawrence DJ, Schuurman GW. 2020. Repeatable approaches to work with scientific uncertainty and advance climate change adaptation in US national parks. Parks Stewardship Forum. 36(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.5070/P53614640.

Schulte PM. 2015. The effects of temperature on aerobic metabolism: towards a mechanistic understanding of the responses of ectotherms to a changing environment. Journal of Experimental Biology. 218:1856–1866. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.118851

Seebacher F, White CR, Franklin CE. 2015. Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change. Nature Climate Change. 5:61–66. https://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate2457

Seibold S, Gossner MM, Dimons NK, Blüthgen N, Müller J, Ambarlı D, Ammer C, Bauhus J, Fischer M, Habel JC, et al. 2019. Arthropod decline in grasslands and forests is associated with landscape-level drivers. Nature. 574:671–674. doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1684-3

Sheridan JA, Bickford D. 2011. Shrinking body size as an ecological response to climate change. Nature Climate Change 1(8):401–406. Nature Publishing Group.

Shi Z, Lin Y, Wilcox KR, Souza L, Jiang L, Jiang J, Jung CG, Xu X, Yuan M, Buo X, et al. 2017. Successional change in species composition alters climate sensitivity of grassland productivity. Global Change Biology, 24:4993–5003. doi:10.1111/gcb.14333

Short E, Caminade C, Thomas B. 2017. Climate change contribution to the emergence or reemergence of parasitic diseases. Infectious Diseases: Research and Treatment. 10. 10.1177/1178633617732296

Simberloff D, Martin JL, Genovesi P, Maris V, Wardle DA, Aronson J, Courchamp F, Galil B, García-Berthou E, Pascal M, et al. 2013. Impacts of biological invasions: what's what and the way forward. Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 28:58–66.

Sinervo B, Méndez-de-la-Cruz F, Miles DB, Heulin B, Bastiaans E, Villagrán-Santa Cruz M, Lara-Resendiz R, Martínez-Méndez N, Calderón-Espinosa ML, Meza-Lázaro RN, et al. 2010. Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. Science. 328:894–899. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1184695

Sirén AP, Morelli TL. 2020. Interactive range-limit theory (iRLT): An extension for predicting range shifts. Journal of Animal Ecology 89(4): 940–954.

Sloan K, Hostler J. 2014. Utilizing Yurok Traditional Ecological Knowledge to Inform Climate Change Priorities. Submitted to: The North Pacific Landscape Conservation Cooperative, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. June 30, 2014.

Socolar JB, Epanchin PN, Beissinger SR, Tingley MW. 2017. Phenological shifts conserve thermal niches in North American birds and reshape expectations for climate-driven range shifts. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 114:12976–12981. doi:10.1073/pnas.1705897114

Soroye P, Newbold T, Kerr J. 2020. Climate change contributes to widespread declines among bumble bees across continents. Science. 367:685–688. doi:10.1126/science.aax8591

Spooner FEB, Pearson RG, Freeman R. 2018. Rapid warming is associated with population decline among terrestrial birds and mammals globally. Global Change Biology. 24:4521–4531. doi:10.1111/gcb.14361

Staudinger MD, Mills KE, Stamieszkin K, Record NR, Hudak CA, Allyn A, Diamond A, Friedland KD, Golet W, Henderson ME, Hernandez CM. 2019. It's about time: A synthesis of changing phenology in the Gulf of Maine ecosystem. Fisheries oceanography, 28(5): 532-566.

Stein BA, Glick P, Edelson N, Staudt A, editors. 2014. Climate-smart conservation: putting adaptation principles into practice. Washington (DC): National Wildlife Federation.

Stein BA, Shaw MR. 2013. Biodiversity conservation for a climate-altered future. In: Moser SC, Boykoff MT, editors. Successful Adaptation to Climate Change. New York (NY): Routledge; p. 50–66.

Stephens SL, Kobziar LN, Collins BM, Davis R, Fulé PZ, Gaines W, Ganey J, Guldin JM, Hessburg PF, Hiers K, et al. 2019. Is fire "for the birds"? How two rare species influence fire management across the US. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 17:391–399.

Stephens SL, Collins BM, Fettig CJ, Finney MA, Hoffman CM, Knapp EE, North MP, Safford H, Wayman RB. 2018. Drought, tree mortality, and wildfire in forests adapted to frequent fire. BioScience. 68(2):77–88.

Stephenson NL, Millar CI. 2012. Climate change : wilderness's greatest challenge. Park Science. 28(3).

Stralberg D, Arseneault D, Baltzer JL, Barber QE, Bayne EM, Boulanger Y, Brown CD, Cooke HA, Devito K, Edwards J, et al. 2020. Climate-change refugia in boreal North America: what, where, and for how long? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 18(5):261–270.

Swanston C, Janowiak M, Butler P. 2012. Chapter 1: Climate change response framework overview. In: Swanston C, Janowiak M, editors. Forest adaptation resources: climate change tools and approaches for land managers. Newtown Square (PA): U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station. GTR-NRS-87; p. 8–14.

Swanston CW, Janowiak MK, Brandt LA, Butler PR, Handler SD, Shannon DP, Lewis AD, Hall K, Fahey RT, Scott L, et al. 2016. Forest adaptation resources: climate change tools and approaches for land managers, 2nd ed. Newtown Square (PA): U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station. NRS-GTR-87-2. 161 p.

Swinomish (Swinomish Indian Tribal Community). 2010. <u>Swinomish Climate Change Initiative</u> <u>Climate Adaptation Action Plan.</u> La Conner, WA. Thompson JR, Carpenter DN, Cogbill CV, Foster DR. 2013. Four centuries of change in northeastern United States forests. PLoS ONE. 8(9):e72540.

Thompson LM, Lynch AJ, Beever EA, Engman AC, Falke JA, Jackson ST, Krabbenhoft TJ, Lawrence DJ, Limpinsel D, Magill RT, et al. 2020. Responding to ecosystem transformation: resist, accept, or direct? Fisheries. Early View. doi:10.1002/fsh.10506

Tilman D, Lehman CL, Kareiva P. 1997. Population dynamics in spatial habitats. In: Tilman D, Kareiva P, editors. Spatial ecology. Princeton (NJ): Princeton University Press; p. 3–20.

Trenberth KE, Cheng L, Jacobs P, Zhang Y, Fasullo J. 2018. Hurricane Harvey links to ocean heat content and climate change adaptation. Earth's Future. 6(5):730–744.

Tribal Adaptation Menu Team. 2019. Dibaginjigaadeg Anishinaabe Ezhitwaad: A tribal climate adaptation menu. Odanah (WI): Great Lakes Indian Fish and Wildlife Commission. 54 p.

Truitt AM, Granek EF, Duveneck MJ, Goldsmith KA, Jordan MP, Yazzie KC. 2015. What is novel about novel ecosystems: managing change in an ever-changing world. Environmental Management. 55(6):1217–1226.

Tyson W, Heinemeyer K. 2017. Inuvialuit traditional knowledge of wildlife habitat on the Yukon North Slope. Prepared for the Wildlife Management Advisory Council (North Slope). Final Report, 12 July 2017.

UK Forestry Commission. 2017. How much water do forests use? [cited 2017. Available from https:// www.forestry.gov.uk/fr/infd-6mvj8b

USFS (USDA Forest Service). 2014. U.S. forest resource facts and historical trends. FS-1035. 63 pp.

USGCRP. 2017. Climate science special report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Wuebbles DJ, Fahey DW, Hibbard KA, Dokken DJ, Stewart BC, Maycock TK, editors. Washington (DC): U.S. Global Change Research Program. 470 p.

USGCRP. 2018. Impacts, risks, and adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II. Reidmiller DR, Avery CW, Easterling DR, Kunkel KE, Lewis KLM, Maycock TK, Stewart BC, editors. Washington (DC): U.S. Global Change Research Program. 1515 p. doi:10.7930/NCA4.2018.

van Gils JA, Lisovski S, Lok T, Meissner W, Ozarowska A, de Fouw J, Rakhimberdiev E, Soloviev MY, Piersma T, Klaassen M. 2016. Body shrinkage due to Arctic warming reduces red knot fitness in tropical wintering range. Science 352(6287):819-821. doi:10.1126/science.aad6351

Vasquez EA, James JJ, Monaco TA, Cummings DC. 2010. Invasive plants on rangelands. Rangelands. 32:3–5.

Verma P, Vaughan K, Martin K, Pulitano E, Garrett J, Piirto DD. 2016. Integrating Indigenous knowledge and western science into forestry, natural resources, and environmental programs. Journal of Forestry. 114(6):648–655.

Vilà M, Espinar JL, Hejda M, Hulme PE, Jarošík V, Maron JL, Pergl J, Schaffner U, Sun Y, Pyšek P. 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. Ecology Letters. 14:702–708. 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01628.x

Vinyeta K, Lynn K. 2013. Exploring the role of traditional ecological knowledge in climate change initiatives. Portland (OR): U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. PNW-GTR-879. 37 p.

Vose JM, Peterson DL, Domke GM, Domke GM, Fettig CJ, Joyce LA, Keane RE, Luce CH, Prestemon JP. 2018. Forests. In: Reidmiller DR, Avery CW, Easterling DR, Kunkel KE, Lewis KLM, Maycock TK, Stewart BC, editors. Impacts, risks, and adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II. Washington (DC): U.S. Global Change Research Program; p. 232–267. 10.7930/NCA4.2018.CH6

Walker WH II, Meléndez-Fernández OH, Nelson RJ, Reiter RJ. 2019. Global climate change and invariable photoperiods: a mismatch that jeopardizes animal fitness. Ecology and Evolution. 9:10044–10054. doi:10.1002/ece3.5537

Wall D. 2018. The Swinomish Tribe: looking to the past to preserve the future, April 2018. Climate Change Program, Institute for Tribal Environmental Professionals, Northern Arizona University.

Waller EK, Crimmins TM, Walker JJ, Posthumus EE, Weltzin JF. 2018. Differential changes in the onset of spring across US National Wildlife Refuges and North American migratory bird flyways. PLoS ONE. 13(9):e0202495. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202495

Wallingford PD, Morelli TL, Allen JM, Beaury EM, Blumenthal DM, Bradley BA, Dukes JS, Early R, FUsco EJ, Goldberg DE, et al. 2020. Adjusting the lens of invasion biology to focus on the impacts of climate-driven range shifts. Nature Climate Change. 10:398–405. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0768-2

Warziniack T, Lawson M, Dante-Wood SK. 2018. Effects of climate change on ecosystem services in the Northern Rockies. In: Halofsky J, Peterson D, editors. Climate change and Rocky Mountain ecosystems. Advances in Global Change Research, vol 63. Cham (Switzerland): Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56928-4_10

Welden N, Lusher A. 2017. Impacts of changing ocean circulation on the distribution of marine microplastic litter. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management. 13:483. doi:10.1002/ieam.1911

Whitman E, Parisien M, Thompson DK, Flannigan MD. 2019. Short-interval wildfire and drought overwhelm boreal forest resilience. Scientific Reports. 9:18796. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-55036-7.

Whyte KP, Brewer JP, Johnson JT. 2015. Weaving Indigenous science, protocols and sustainability science. *Sustainability Science*, *11*(1), 25-32.

Wiens JJ. 2016. Climate-related local extinctions are already widespread among plant and animal species. PLoS Biology. 14(12):e2001104. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.2001104

Wildlife Conservation Society. 2020. WCS Climate Adaptation Fund 2020 applicant guidance document. 15 p.

WMANS (Wildlife Management Advisory Council North Slope). 2019. We are the Wildlife Management Advisory Council for the Yukon North Slope. Available from <u>https://wmacns.ca/about-us/</u>

Williams AP, Cook ER, Smerdon JE, Cook BI, Abatzoglou JT, Bolles K, Baek SH, Badger AM, Livneh B. 2020. Large contribution from anthropogenic warming to an emerging North American megadrought. Science. 368(6488):314–318.

Wilson MC, Chen X-Y, Corlett RT, Didham RK, Ding P, Holt RD, Holyoak M, Hu G, Hughes AC, Jiang L, et al. 2016. Habitat fragmentation and biodiversity conservation: key findings and future challenges. Landscape Ecology. 31:219–227. 10.1007/s10980-015-0312-3

Wilson S, Breen AV, DuPré L, editors. 2019. Research and reconciliation: unsettling ways of knowing through Indigenous relationships. Canadian Scholars.

Wimberley MC, Janssen LL, Hennessy DA, Luri M, Chowdhury NM, Feng H. 2017. Cropland expansion and grassland loss in the eastern Dakotas: new insights from a farm-level survey. Land Use Policy. 63:160–173. 10.1016/j.landusepol.2017.01.026

Wimberley MC, Narem DM, Bauman PJ, Carlson BT, Ahlering MA. 2018. Grassland connectivity in fragmented agricultural landscapes of the northcentral United States. Biological Conservation. 217:121–130. 10.1016/j.biocon.2017.10.031

With KA, King AW. 1999. Dispersal success on fractal landscapes: a consequence of lacunarity thresholds. Landscape Ecology. 14:73–82.

Wong BBM, Candolin U. 2015. Behavioral responses to changing environments. Behavioral Ecology. 26(3):665–773. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/aru183</u>

WWF (World Wildlife Fund). 2019. No plastic in nature: assessing plastic ingestion from nature to people [cited 25 October 2019]. Available from https://d2ouvy59p0dg6k.cloudfront.net/downloads/plastic_ingestion_web_spreads.pdf

Wyoming Game and Fish Department. 2017. Wyoming Game & Fish State Wildlife Action Plan. https://wgfd.wyo.gov/Habitat/Habitat-Plans/Wyoming-State-Wildlife-Action-Plan

Yahner RH. 1988. Changes in wildlife communities near edges. Conservation Biology. 2:333–339.

Zaneveld JR, Burkepile DE, Shantz AA, Pritchard CE, McMinds R, Payet JP, Welsh R, Correa AMS, Lemoine NP, Rosales S, et al. 2016. Overfishing and nutrient pollution interact with temperature to disrupt coral reefs down to microbial scales. Nature Communications. 7:11833. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11833

Zimova M, Hacklander K, Good JM, Melo-Ferreira J, Alves PC, Mills LS. 2018. Function and underlying mechanisms of seasonal colour moulting in mammals and birds: what keeps them changing in a warming world? Biological Reviews 93: 1478-1498. doi:10.1111/brv.12405